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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of
the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Inno-Tech Holdings Limited (the “Directors”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to Inno-Tech Holdings Limited (the “Company”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (i) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in
all material respects and that the contents are not misleading; (i) there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement in this report misleading; and (iii) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and
careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Corporate Information
NEIER
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Corporate Information
NE]ER
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Five-year Financial Summary

AFEMBHRE

Period from
1 April 2007 to
30 June 2008
Year ended T LHF
30 June 2009 MA—HZ= Period from 1 July to 30 June
BE_FThE —ZETNF BEtA—BEA~NA=1+HLIHHE
~A=+H ~NA=1+H 2007 2006 2005
ILEE IEEE Z—ZZTTEF —ZTTRN —TTRF
Audited Audited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited
TE KEZ REEZ REE Bz REEZ
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET THET FET THET
Turnover EHEE 78,112 143,971 57,342 72,343 94,175
Cost of sales $H 5 B AR (80,698) (111,964) (42,046) (58,566) 67,611)
Gross (loss)/profit (E8) EF (2,586) 32,007 15,296 18,777 26,564
Other revenue and net EA R
income H b F iz 5,487 6,413 3,285 1,190 555
Research and o M B
development expenses Ea - — - — 872
Marketing and MisHER
promotion expenses EERAX (4,660) (19,199) (2,476) (1,055) (1,369)
Administrative expenses TR X (389,076) (87,964) (14,372) (21,487) (9,725)
(Loss)/profit from K (EE)
operations il (390,835) (68,743) 1,733 (2,575) 15,153
(Loss)/profit attributable B ER pE ML (&518)
to shareholders Y ) (391,000) (71,352) (4,489) (9,081) 8,218
Dividends B& B = _ _ _ _
(Loss)/earnings per share f% (Ei8) /& A
— Basic — EA (25.08) cents flll  (6.28) cents 1l (0.88) cents fill (1.81) cents il 1.55 cents fili
As at 30 June
RA~A=+H
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
—EBEAE —EENE ZZTT+F ZZTTERF ZITTRE
Audited Audited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited
TE K EZ REEZ KRB % REE®Z
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TFHET FET THET FET THET
Total assets mEE 144,147 434,810 365,705 133,206 146,921
Total liabilities FEN=Ri (61,163) (99,089) (28,975) (80,191) (95,226)
Shareholders’ funds REES 82,984 335,721 336,730 53,015 51,695
Non-current assets ERBEE 122,739 207,228 126,371 47,609 40,923
Current assets BB E 21,408 227,582 239,334 85,597 105,998
Current liabilities B A& (32,706) (91,300) (18,902) (64,822) (85,706)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (28,457) (7,789) (10,073) (15,369) (9,520)
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to report the
Group’s results for the year ended 30 June 2009.

We continue to experience a very difficult year as the economy has
been slow in recovering from the fallout of the sub-prime mortgage
crisis in the US. In response to this, we have been trying to realign
and diversify our business activities in order to maximize return for our
shareholders. We have been seeing signs of stronger recovery
recently and we remain confidence of the resilience of the economy in
the PRC.

The domestic sale of i-Panel and Apbus products and the provision
of intranet design for residential communities in the PRC remained
the core business of the Group over the last reporting period. Our
sales have decreased significantly year on year due to the slowdown
in the residential property market in the PRC last year. We feel that
this part of our business will remain fairly stable moving forward.

The Company has ventured into the mineral mining business last year
by taking a significant equity holding in HK Gaofeng Limited. The
investment will enable us to enjoy the synergy brought about by
applying and further developing our existing i-Panel products and
solutions in the management control, exploitation and excavation of
mineral mines. We intend to acquire further shareholding stake in the
promising mineral business sector which would help to diversify the
Group’s business streams and to improve the financial results of the
Group.

Our development of the hospitality business in PRC has been severely
hampered over the past year due to the enormous contraction of the
export driven manufacturing activities in the Pearl River Delta where
most of our hotels are located. We had to significantly scale down our
hotel operations thus resulting in a significant write off in our
investments in this sector.

We have undergone a detailed analysis of our business activities and
concluded that our investment in the health care business in the PRC
is no longer creating value for our shareholders. As a result, we have
decided to divest our shareholding in Autoscale Resources Limited
which was the investment vehicle of our health care business.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my
deepest appreciation to all directors, management, and staff for their
hard work and contributions in the past year. It was indeed a very
challenging year. Finally, our shareholders and business partners also
deserved our most sincere gratitude and appreciation for their
unrelenting trust and support to the Group.

Wong Yuen Yee
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE Z wm il N o AT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The Group reported a turnover of HK$78,112,000 for the year ended

30 June 2009, representing a decrease of approximately 45.74%
compared with the turnover of HK$143,971,000 for the period ended
30 June 2008. During the 12 months of operation, the intelligence
system business sector contributed a turnover of approximately
HK$74,374,000 and the hotel business sector contributed a turnover
of approximately HK$3,738,000 to the Group respectively.

Gross loss for the Group was approximately HK$2,586,000 (2008:
gross profit HK$32,007,000).

The Group’s loss before income tax as at 30 June 2009 was
approximately HK$390,835,000 (2008: HK$68,743,000).

Basic loss per share as at 30 June 2009 was HK25.08 cents (2008:
HK6.28 cents).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2009 (2008: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Software Application Solutions

The domestic sale of i-Panel and Apbus products and the provision
of intranet design for residential communities remained the core
business of the Group. As it is the dual corporate strategy of the
Group to strengthen its existing business and at the same time
identifying and capitalizing new opportunities to achieve financial
growth for the Group and to maximum shareholders’ value, the
Group continues expanding into industries such as outdoor
advertising and display industry and gold mining industry.

Investment in China Outdoor Media Industry —
Acquisition of Great China Media Holdings Limited

On 10 December 2008, Shiny Step Investment Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Capital Base Holdings Limited pursuant to
which Shiny Step Investment Limited acquired approximately 23% of
the issued share capital of Great China Media Holdings Limited at a
consideration of approximately HK$44,354,000. The acquisition was
completed on 28 February 2009. Great China Media Holdings Limited
is principally engaged in the business of the provision of advertising
related consultation services.

06  Annual Report 08/09 F%f
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUS'NESS REVIEW (continued)

Investment in Gold Mining Industry — Acquisition of
Gaofeng Holding Co. Limited

On 6 May 2009, Inno Gold Mining Limited (“Inno Gold Mine”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Wong Chung Pong,
Christopher and Ms Ou Yang Ying to which Inno Gold Mine acquired
the entire issued share capital of Dragon Emperor International
Limited (“DE”) which was interested in 13.6% of the issued share
capital of Gaofeng Holding Co. Limited (“GF”) at a consideration of
approximately HK$22,172,000. On the same date, Inno Gold Mine
acquired 1.8% of the issued share capital of GF at a consideration of
approximately HK$2,940,000. The Group through Inno Gold Mine
and DE, became interested in an aggregated of 15.4% shareholding
interests in GF on 15 May 2009. As at 30 June 2009, GF is interested
in the entire equity interests in Jiu Jiang Gaofeng. Jiu Jiang Gaofeng
is a limited liability company established in China on 15 July 2004.
The scope of business of Jiu Jiang Gaofeng is sale and purchase of
dolomite, investment, consultation and mining engineering technical
consultation.

In April 2009, Jiu Jiang Gaofeng agreed to acquire an aggregate of
81.5% equity interests in Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine. Subject to the
approval from Jiangxi Commerce Administrative Bureau being
obtained, Jiu Jiang Gaofeng would be interested in 81.5% of the
equity interests in Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine. The major asset of Zhang
Jia Fan Gold Mine is its mining right in respect of a gold mine located
in De Xing Shi of Jiangxi Province, PRC covering a mining area of
0.4970 km2. Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine held a mining right approval
with the effective period from January 2008 to January 2010 and was
approved to carry on excavation of gold mine by underground mining
method. According to the Valuation Report, the overall estimated
amount of resources of gold of Zhang Jia Fan Gold Mine is
1,014,895t.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUS'NESS REVIEW (continued)

Economy Hotel Business

Disposal of two hotel assets

On 26 June 2009, Inno Hotel Investment & Management Holdings
Limited (“Inno Hotel Investment”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into two sale and purchase agreements
with Timewon Limited and Main Move Limited in relation to the
disposal of the entire issued share capital of Sunny Team Corporation
Limited (“Sunny Team”) and Homesmart Properties Limited
(“Homesmart”) for a consideration of each of them at RMB2,000,000
respectively.

The Sunny Team Consideration is arrived at after arm’s length
negotiation between the parties taking into account (i) the valuation of
the Xindu Hotel Property (the property comprises certain buildings
located at No. 106, Guangming Road, Kaiping, the PRC, with a floor
area of 6,210.18 square metre and 635.98 square metre, respectively
and car parking spaces with an area of 755.50 square metre located
at No. 107 Guangming Road, Kaiping, China.) as at 19 June 2009 by
BMI Appraisals Limited, in the amount of RMB10,500,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$11,666,000); and (ii) the Sunny Team Bank
Loan in the principal amount of RMB8,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$9,444,000). The parties agreed that Inno Hotel
Investment shall pay an amount equal to the interest payment
incurred under the Sunny Team Bank Loan from the day immediately
after the last interests incurring period up to the date of completion in
the amount of approximately RMB64,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$71,000) to Timewon on completion. The transaction was
completed on 30 June 2009.

The Homesmart Consideration is arrived at after arm’s length
negotiation between the parties taking into account (i) the valuation of
the Kaiping Hotel Property (the property comprises two four-storey
buildings and one seven storey building located at No. 22 Xi Jiao
Road, Zhang Sha, San Bu Town, Kaiping City, Guangdong Province,
China, with a total gross floor area of approximately 4,387.29 square
metres.) as at 19 June 2009 by BMI Appraisals Limited, in the amount
of RMB13,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$14,444,000);
and (ii) the Homesmart Bank Loan in the principal amount of
RMB11,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,222,000). The
parties agreed that Inno Hotel Investment shall pay an amount equal
to the interest payment under the Homesmart Bank Loan from the
day immediately after the last interests incurring period up to the date
of completion in the amount of approximately RMB106,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$118,000) to Main Move Limited on
completion. The transaction was completed on 30 June 2009.
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BUS'NESS REVIEW (continued)
Disposal of Autoscale Resources Limited (“Autoscale”)

On 16 February 2009, the Company entered into the sale and
purchase agreement with Certain Success Holdings Limited pursuant
to which the Company agreed to dispose 56% of the issued share
capital of Autoscale at a consideration of HK$3,144,960 to be
satisfied in cash by Certain Success Holdings Limited and was
completed in March 2009.

The sole asset of Autoscale is 12,000,000 shares in China Health
Care Corporation (“CHCC”), representing approximately 23.93% of
the total issued share capital of CHCC. CHCC is principally engaged
in the business of infrastructure investment in boutique units in
hospitals or medical centres and providing hospital management and
medical consultation services through co-operation with hospitals and
medical institutions in the PRC and Macau. With the economic
downturn, the Group considered that it would be more appropriate to
focus its human and financial resources on the business sector with a
more promising growth in the years to come. After the disposal of
Autoscale, the Group will focus its resources on software application,
outdoor advertising and gold mining sectors, which in the opinion of
the Directors, would have a better growth potential.

OUTLOOK

During the year under review, the Group’s results were unsatisfactory
especially the hotel business. Due to the worldwide economic
turbulence and the closure of factories and offices in Guangdong
province bring about challenges to the hotel business of which a low
profitability is to be anticipated in the near future. Accordingly, the
Board has reviewed the Group’s portfolio of investment and the
business development plans for coming years and decided to focus
the Group’s financial and management resources in developing its
outdoor media business and the gold mining business.

During the recent years, there has been a continuous increase in
demand in gold consumption in China for domestic and investment
purpose. Apart from import, China has excavated and refined
approximately 246 tons of gold last year.

With the recent surge in gold price and the continuous anticipation of
the rise in gold price in the near future, the Board considers that the
gold mining business would be promising. The Group continues to
seek opportunities to acquire valuable gold mines in China so as to
maintain a sustainable profitability.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 June 2009, the net current liabilities of the Group were
approximately HK$11,298,000 (2008: Net current assets
HK$136,282,000). Out of the current assets as at 30 June 2009,
approximately HK$10,735,000 (2008: HK$50,305,000) were cash
and bank balances. The current ratio of the Group as at 30 June
2009 was 65% (2008: 248%). As at 30 June 2009, bank overdrafts
and short term bank borrowings and convertible bonds in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$34,063,000 (2008: HK$14,837,000).
Net debt (i.e. total bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalent
and pledged deposits) as at 30 June 2009 was HK$23,328,000
(2008: Nil) and accordingly net debt gearing ratio (i.e. net debt/net
assets) as at 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008 were 28% and Nil
respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
On 29 August 2008, the Company placed 107,704,193 Shares (as to

48,852,097 Shares to Ms. Wong Yuen Yee and 58,852,096 Shares
to Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert) and raised approximately
HK$39,850,551. On 28 November 2008, the Company placed
135,000,000 Shares to an independent party and raised
approximately HK$11,745,000. On 23 January 2009, the Company
placed 48,000,000 Shares to independent third parties and raised
approximately HK$4,176,000. Those funds raised are for the
development of the hotel business and to finance the research and
development capability and as general working capital of the Group’s
principal business in the application of i-Panel and its integrated
hardware and software service provision.

On 28 February 2009, the Company issued convertible notes with the
principal amount of HK$43,384,000 for the acquisition of
approximately 23% interest in Great China Media Holdings Limited.
The convertible notes, with maturity date of 28 February 2011, are
convertible into Shares at an initial conversion price of HK$0.0638 per
Share during the conversion period. During the period from
28 February 2009 to 30 June 2009, the Company issued
246,128,527 Shares being the Shares converted from the convertible
notes and the balance of the principal amount of the convertible
notes as at 30 June 2009 was HK$27,681,000 which will be
converted into 433,871,473 Shares.
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CAP'TAL STRUCTU RE (continued)
On 15 May 2009, the Company issued convertible notes with the

total principal amount of HK$16,680,000 for the acquisition of
approximately 15.4% interest in Gaofeng Holding Co. Limited. The
convertible notes, with maturity date of 15 May 2010, are convertible
into Shares at an initial conversion price of HK$0.06 per Share during
the conversion period. During the period from 15 May 2009 to
30 June 2009, the Company issued 247,542,133 Shares being the
Shares converted from the convertible notes and the balance of the
principal amount of the convertible notes as at 30 June 2009 was
HK$1,827,472 which will be converted into 30,457,866 Shares.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Up to 30 June 2009, there were no borrowings denominated in
foreign currency. The management of the Company is of the opinion
that the Group has insignificant exposure to interest rate risk and
foreign exchange risk. As a result, the Group had not used any
financial instruments for hedging against fluctuation in interest rate
nor foreign currency for the year ended 30 June 2009.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS
Bank deposits of HK$10,000,000 (2008: HK$13,000,000) as at

30 June 2009 have been pledged against banking facilities granted to
the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 43 to
the financial statements.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
DURING THE YEAR AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed under “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Business Review” on pages 7 to 10 of this annual report, there were
no material acquisitions and disposals by the Group during the year
ended 30 June 2009.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
DURING THE YEAR AND FUTURE PLANS FOR

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS (continued)
On 9 June 2009, Dragon Emperor International Limited (“DE”), an

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
Sale and Purchase Agreement with Mr. Wong Chung Pong,
Christopher pursuant to which DE acquired approximately 47.2% of
the issued share capital of Gaofeng Holding Co. Limited (“GF”) at a
total consideration of HK$75,000,000 and to be satisfied by the
issuance of the Convertible Note by the Company to Mr. Wong
Chung Pong, Christopher. The completion of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement is conditional upon (a) the passing at a special general
meeting of the Company dated 30 September 2009 and (b) the
granting by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange of a listing
of and permission to deal in the Shares to be issued upon exercise of
the conversion right under the Convertible notes. Upon the
completion, the Group will be interested in approximately 62.6% of
GF. Details of the transaction has been disclosed in the circular to
shareholders issued on 11 September 2009.

The Group will continue to look for possibilities of forming alliances or
any investment opportunities in the gold mining industry in the future.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The average number of employees (including Directors) was 123 as
at 30 June 2009 (2008: 52), and the total remuneration for the year
ended 30 June 2009 was approximately HK$42,010,000 (2008:
HK$55,075,000). The Group remunerates its employees based on
their performance, working experience and the prevailing market
price. Other employee benefits include mandatory provident fund,
insurance and medical coverage, training programs and share option
scheme.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2009 (2008: Nil) and no interim dividend was
paid during the year (2008: Nil).

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT
Details of post balance sheet event of the Group are set out in note
45 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, aged 47 MBA, BSoSc (Hon) HKU

Chairman and Executive Director

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, aged 47, is one of the founders of the Group.
Ms. Wong is the chairman and an executive director of the Group.
Ms. Wong is the sister of Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, who is the chief
operation officer and executive Director. Ms. Wong is responsible for
formulating and monitoring the Group’s overall strategic plan and
development. Ms. Wong graduated from The University of Hong
Kong with a bachelor degree of social sciences in 1984 and a master
degree in business administration in 1993. Ms. Wong has over 17
years of experience in property development and management in
both the PRC and Hong Kong. She worked as a general manager in
Plotio Holdings Limited for the period from 1985 to 1991. She was
the executive director and board consultant of Soundwill Holdings
Limited in Hong Kong for the periods from 1993 to 1997 and from
1997 to 1998 respectively. She was appointed as the director of
Land First Holdings Limited for the period from 1998 to 1999.

Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert, aged 57 MBA HKU

Deputy Chairman, Executive Director and Compliance
Officer

Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert, aged 51 is the deputy chairman and an
executive director of the Group. Mr. Wong is also the compliance
officer of the Company. He is responsible for the Group’s corporate
management and strategic planning fir the Group’s overall business.
Mr. Wong graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a master
degree in business administration in 1993. He has over 25 years of
experience in the field of information technology and 8 years of
experience in lecturing at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and
has also been working in commercial sectors for over 12 years as
senior management. He also has ample knowledge of software
development and project management in various industries and has
acquired substantial business and technical knowledge in
telecommunication, Internet, e-commerce and networking. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Wong was the president of HealthAnswers
Asia Pte Ltd., and the founder and managing director of Expert
System Co., Ltd. And Expert System Solution Ltd. Mr. Wong joined
the Group in January 2001. In 2005, he was awarded the “Chief
Executive’s Commendation for Community Service”. Currently,
Mr. Wong also the Chief Executive Officer of United Premier Medical
Group (UPMG).
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Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, aged 46

Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Operation Officer

Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, aged 46, is one of the founders of the Group.
Mr. Wong is the Chief operation officer and an executive director of
the Group. Mr. Wong is responsible for the Group’s daily operation
and customer services, and sale and marketing activities for
promoting the Group’s products and services. Mr. Wong graduated
from Shue Yan University (formerly known as Shue Yan College) with
a higher diploma in business administration in 1986. Mr. Wong has
about 20 years of experience in the IT industry and extensive
experience in marketing, research and business development in the
Asia Pacific Region and Eastern Europe. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Wong was the executive officer of Bell Technology Ltd. with
principal duties relating to system design, computer, networking
Internet services and computer products trading for the period from
1989-1998. In addition, he played a major role in business
development, particularly in the PRC market, whilst working with Bell
Technology Itd., Mr. Wong was one of the founders of the portal
“‘www.b66.com” in 1996. Mr. Wong is the Brother of Ms. Wong Yuen
Yee, who is the chairman and an executive director.

Mr. Lam Shiu San, aged 36

Executive Director and Chief Technology Officer

Mr. Lam Shiu San, aged 36, is the Chief technology officer and as
executive Director of the Group. He is responsible for monitoring the
hardware and software development of the Group. He is also in
charge of all the technical issue of the Group’s projects. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Lam was the technical director of NetTrend
Computer for the period from 1997 to 2000 and was the technical
manager of Bell Technology Limited for the period from 1993 to
1997. He has approximately 15 years of experience in software
development, network infrastructure design, system administration
and portal site development. He was also one of the founders of the
portal “www.b66.com”. Mr. Lam holds a Certificate of Computer and
Communication Engineering and a Microsoft Certified Professional +
Internet and is a Microsoft Certified Systems Engineer. Mr. Lam joined
the Group in July 2000.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles, aged 59 BSc HKU
Independent Non-Executive Director and Audit
Committee Member

Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles, aged 59, is an independent non-
executive director of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from the
University of Hong Kong in 1972 with a bachelor degree of Science
and became a Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1976,
a solicitor of the Supreme Court of England & Wales in 1978, Barrister
& Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Victoria, Australia in 1983, a
Notary Public since 1987, Advocate & Solicitor of Supreme Court of
Republic of Singapore in 1990. Mr. Wong is currently a partner of
Messrs. Lo, Wong & Tsui, Solicitors. Mr. Wong has sat as a
Temporary Deputy Registrar of the High Court and he is also a
Deputy Chief Commissioner of the Scout Association of Hong Kong.
He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in
February 2004.

Mr. Lai Ying Sum, aged 47 MBA Edin., MSc CUHK, LLB Lond.
Independent Non-Executive Director and Audit
Committee Member

Mr. Lai Ying Sum, aged 47, was appointed as independent non-
executive director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company on 3 March 2006. Mr. Lai is the proprietor of Sam Lai &
Co., a CPA firm in Central. Mr. Lai was admitted respectively as
member and fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in 1994 and 1999. He has over 15 years of experience
in auditing and advising different companies. Mr. Lai holds two master
degrees, an MBA degree from the University of Edinburgh and a
Master of Science Degree in Business Economics from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lai also holds a Bachelor Degree of
Laws from the University of London and is a member of the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong.

BIAFEBITESE
FEREHE 5957 BSc HKU
BIAFPTEERBEREZEE/RE

TRREE BHFL NAKEBILIFANTT
EE-TRAERN-NE-_FRBEEARES
TEU: —NAERFRABE BT AREM:
—NENFES B MBS &S A R
B —hWN\=ZFRERMNEZNTE&ESE
AR EEMER B - A NELFRELR
BN AER—ANTFRBNMEANERS
ERR 2 KA AR RN ERAERBE ERZAE
EBAZAEBA - TRETASFEREZRE
AERBEMNEAEERENEEERE K
R-EEMF-_ABREIRBUIFNTES -

BRRETR S & v 474 MBA Edin,, MSc CUHK, LLB Lond.

BIAFPITEERELESENE

RERLE RFATH RZEZERF=ZA=
AEZEARNARBUFNTEERERETE
gXRE BATPE —HeHMITRERGTH
EBzEELEE BREES RN — NI
FR—NANANERRBEASHMAGLEER
BRGE -BREBARMTARAREEER
ARBEITEAGS T EFLER -BAEERE
University of Edinburgh#8 2 v T E 1 1H £ 2
MRBEARXRNBEFE BB (FHELEELT
BRopih BEETNHERIAKNBEZELE
- WREENBEEESE -

Annual Report 08/09 £ 4 15



Xy

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited E &/ B R 2 7

Directors and Senior Management Profile

EENEHREEABZIER

Mr. Cheng King Hung, aged 54

Independent Non-Executive Director and Audit
Committee Member

Mr. Cheng King Hung, aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company on 16 May 2007. Mr. Cheng graduated from the Southern
lllinois University at Carbondale, United States of America with a
Bachelor of Science in Special Major: Film-Television Communication
in 1980. Mr. Cheng obtained the degree of Master of Philosophy in
Communication from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1986
and the degree of Doctor of Philosophy from the Research Institute in
Chinese Literature and History, Hong Kong Chu Hai College in 1991.
Mr. Cheng has worked as a copywriter with the Television and
Broadcasting Limited from 1980 to 1981. Between 1981 and 1990,
Mr. Cheng was an information officer with the Government
Information Services. Mr. Cheng left the civil service in 1990 to join
the Kowloon-Canton Railway Corporation as a community relations
manager until 1992. Mr. Cheng was Head of News & Media Section
of Hong Kong University of Science and Technology between 1992
to 2000. Mr. Cheng has been a school manager of YLPMS Tang Siu
Tong Secondary School since 2005 and is currently the chairman of
Writers Fellowship and executive committee member of Group 26
(environmental industries) of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Yuen Man, Alice, aged 43 BSc

Director of Human Resources and Communications

Ms. Wong Yuen Man, Alice, aged 43, is the director of human
resources and business development of the Group. Ms. Wong is the
sister of Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, who is the chairman and an executive
Director. Ms. Wong is responsible for human resources,
administration and business development. Ms. Wong graduated from
Indiana State University in Indiana, US with a bachelor degree in
public relations. She has approximately 13 years of experience in the
field of communications and human resources. Ms. Wong has
worked for 9 years with American Consulate General in Hong Kong
and has handled the visit of US Secretary of State and President
Clinton in 1997 and 1998 respectively. Prior to joining the Group, she
worked for Adler Planetarium in Chicago, US. Ms. Wong joined the
Group in September 2000.
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Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter, aged 44 CPA

Company Secretary and qualified accountant

Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter, aged 44 was appointed as Company Secretary
and Qualified Accountant of the Group. Mr. Li is responsible for
Group accounting and corporate finance of the Group. Mr. Li
graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree
in accountancy. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, he worked
for an international accounting and audit firm, for 8 years and a Hong
Kong listed company as a financial controller and company secretary
for 4 years.

Dr. Kaihui Yang, aged 45

Dr. Kaihui Yang, aged 45, joined the Group as director of Inno Gold
Mining Limited in June 2009. Dr. Yang has over 20 years experience
as a geologist working on a variety of ore deposits in China and
Canada. Dr. Yang was employed by the Institution of Geology under
the Ministry of Geology and Mineral Resources (now the Ministry of
Land and Resources) for 10 years. From early 1990s to 2002, he was
a consultant to several Canadian major mining companies and the
World Bank Group working on their projects in the PRC, Asia and
Canada. Dr. Yang has in-depth relationships and networks with
Chinese and Canadian mining industry and governmental agencies
and has been instrumental in identifying a number of high-quality
projects and partners, setting up joint-ventures and has operated
exploration projects smoothly in China. Dr. Yang is the founder and
president of Asia Now Resources Corporation, a company listed on
the Toronto stock exchange of Canada. Dr. Yang obtained his PhD.
in geology from China University of Geoscience, Beijing, in 1990, and
was awarded in 1993 with an International Fellowship from the
Canadian Government working at the University of Toronto, where he
has published a number of papers on ore deposits in international
journals including Nature.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EENEHREEABZIER

Mr. Sean Webster, aged 37

Mr. Sean Webster, aged 37, joined the Group as director of Inno
Gold Mining Limited in June 2009. Mr. Webster has nearly 11 years
experience in the corporate finance industry, specializing in advising
on various types of fund raising activities, including initial public
offerings and private placements, and corporate restructurings. His
focus was on mining and resource companies and he helped to
finance and develop a substantial number of junior gold companies
from exploration to development and production. In November, 2007
Mr. Webster became the Senior Vice President, Finance and
Business Development of Grand Power Logistics Group, Inc., which
is a publicly traded company on the Canadian TSX Venture Exchange.
Mr. Webster also holds directorships in Baoshinn Corporation (a USA
listed company, which provides travel services to wholesale
businesses and corporate clients in Hong Kong and Mainland China)
and Biopack Environmental Solutions Inc. (a USA listed company,
which produces environmentally friendly packaging). His experience
spans a wide range of project development and contract negotiations
within the mining, energy and technology industries. Mr. Webster
focuses on the creation and implementation of business
development, market strategies and financing options for maximum
return on investments. Mr. Webster graduated from the University of
Calgary with a Bachelors Degree in Economics, and a minor in
Management and Commerce. Mr. Webster currently resides in Hong
Kong.
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Report of the Directors

ERFHE

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 30 June 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the financial
statements.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Company’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2009 are set out

on page 42 of the annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 30 June 2009. No interim dividend has
been paid by the Company during the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out
in note 35 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered by the Group during the year
ended 30 June 2009, which do not constitute connected transactions
under the GEM Listing Rules are disclosed in note 44 to the financial
statements.
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ERFHE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee

Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing

Mr. Lam Shiu San

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles

Mr. Lai Ying Sum

Mr. Cheng King Hung

In accordance with Bye-laws 86 and 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, Mr. Wong Tak Leung and Mr. Cheng King
Hung will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, Mr. Lam Shiu

San and Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert, all of whom are executive
Directors, has entered into a service contract with the Company.
Each service contract is of two years duration commencing on 1 April
2002 and shall continue thereafter until being terminated by either
party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior written
notice expiring not earlier than the date of expiry of the said initial
fixed term of two years. As at 30 June 2009, none of these service
contracts have been terminated by either party.

No service contract has been entered into between the Company
and the independent non-executive Directors. However, the Board
has approved the statutory compensation of the independent non-
executive directors on 1 July 2008 and payable on or before 30 June
2009.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has entered into any service
agreements with any member of the Group.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 13 and 18 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
EESHE

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in note 10 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of Mr. Wong Tak Leung,
Charles, Mr. Cheng King Hung and Mr. Lai Ying Sum an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules and the Company still considers the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Report of the Directors
EESHE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME HE Rz #E T 2l
(i) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme () BRAMEKREBIRESE
The Company’s pre-IPO share option scheme (“Pre-IPO Share BEARATIN-_ZET_FE+AAAER
Option Scheme”) was adopted on 5 July 2002 and the principal ZERAAERERESESTHEAR
terms of which were set out in the prospectus of the Company FERABARETE TEERZEN =
dated 30 July 2002 (the “Prospectus”). There were 24,000,000 ZEE—FLA=ZFTHFECARNFTER
share options granted to the grantees. Up to 30 June 2009, SRR((ERER]D) AR ER AR
there were 17,520,000 options under the Pre-IPO Share Option 124,000,000 R #E - HE ST N F
Scheme have been exercised and 1,680,000 share options NA=1+H8 AL 17,520,000 B ik #E
have been lapsed. The remaining 4,800,000 share options 1T - T A1,680,00010 B8 B AE B KA -
under the Pre-IPO Share option Scheme will lapse on 4 July BERAAHAERMEBRETE ZHT
2012. Details of which were as follows: 4,800,000/ R EKNKN T ——_F + A
MBAXZK - BEFBEOAT :
Number of share options
R ESE
Outstanding  Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding Exercise
as at during during during as at price per
Date of grant 1July2008 theyear theyear theyear 30June 2009 Option period share
RZBENE R-ZBEAE
tHA—H ~A=+HE Bk
RHEBH HATHE FRREE FATE FARY EATE RREGHR fTiE®E
Directors 5 July 2002 - - - - —  5July2002 to HK$0.28
Bz T+ AEA 4 July 2012 0287 7T
B-ZZZ-F+AAAHZE
“Z--F+tANALE
Employees 5 July 2002 4,800,000 - - - 4,800,000 5 July 2002 to HK$0.28
BB —EZE-%+BAH 4 July 2012 0.28% 7T
BE-TZ-FtARHZE
—E-—FtAWAL
Total
4Bt 4,800,000 — - - 4,800,000
22  Annual Report 08/09 F%f
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Report of the Directors

ERFHE

SHAR E OPT|0N SCH EME (continued)
(i)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole shareholder
of the Company on 5 July 2002, the Company conditionally

adopted the share option scheme, the

principal terms of which

are set out in the section head “Share Option Schemes” in
Appendix IV of the Prospectus (“Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”). Up to 30 June 2009, there were 419,587,924 share
options granted to the grantees and there were 232,048,059

shares options under the Post-IPO

Share Option Scheme

exercised and no options has been cancelled. The remaining
187,539,865 share options under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme will lapse from 6 January 2014 to 28 May 2019.

Details of which were as follows:

mll% .

RE R HE T 8l )
(i) BHRAREREBIESTE

BEARE-—RERA-_ZZE _F+ 7
hAHBBAZEAAZR A2 ABGH
HKmBEREFI(HAARAEREER
EEE]D  EFZRRENRERERMNER
MR ETE - -BE2E_FETNF
NAZTHAL ARREBERTFAERA
419,587,924 17 i I 4 & /5232,048,059 17
BERAAEREERETSBET 2ER
EETE  WEBRECHIHE BAA
& IR & I8 IR B 5 8] 2 #2 187,539,865
HEBRESNR _-_Z—NFEF—-—AHEZ
T-NFRAZ+NBHELXH-FH
EAE NN

Number of share options
BRENE
Outstanding  Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding Exercise
as at during during during as at price per
Date of grant 1July2008 theyear theyear theyear 30June 2009 Option period share
RZFENE RZBEALE
tA—-H ~A=+H (=1
RHBH HRITE EFRRE FERTE ERKRR HARTHE ERELHR fTfEfE
Directors 23 August 2007 34,720,000 - 34,720,000 23 August 2007 to HK$0.63
e “ZZ+FNAZ1+=RH 22 August 2017 0.63% 7T
B-FFLEN\A-TZEE
—E—tFN\AZ+ZAL
Employees 6 January 2004 10,500 - - 10,500 6 January 2004 to HK$0.22
EE el = 5 January 2014 0.22% 7T
B-TTME—-AAZE
“T-{E-ARAL
20 September 2005 1,000,000 - — 1,000,000 20 September 2005 to HK$0.114
ZETRENAZTH 19 September 2015 01145 T
BZZTRFNA-TRHE
“Z-IEAATABL
28 August 2007 35,060,000 - - 35,060,000 23 August 2007 to HK$0.63
“ETEENAZT=H 22 August 2017 0.63%8 T
B-FFLEN\A-+ZHE
—E—tFN\AZ+ZAL
9 September 2008 — 88,604,984 57,815,619 - 30,849,365 9 September 2008 to HK$0.174
“ZEE\FNANA 8 September 2018 017478 T

B-ET\FAANEE
“E-\FAANBIL
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Inno-Tech Holdings Limited E &/ B R 2 7

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) ﬁﬂﬁ*&%‘l’ §|] (&)
(i) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued) (i) HXRAMEREBRETSI@®
Number of share options
EREHE
Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding Exercise
as at during during during as at price per
Date of grant 1 July 2008 the year theyear  theyear 30June 2009 Option period
RZBENE RZBFLE
tA-H ~A=+H
RHBH HATE FRRE @ FEATE EAKH HRITRE BREHR
11 September 2008 — 34,000,000 12,000,000 - 22,000,000 11 September 2008 to HK$0.195
== \EhA+-A 10 September 2018 0.195/% 7T
BEZTTN\FAA+-HEZE
ZT-NFAATHL
24 November 2008 — 41,700,000 27,800,000 - 13,900,000 24 November 2008 to HK$0.07
—ETN\F 23 November 2018 0.077%7T
T—AZ+mA BEZZZNF+-AZtMEZE
“E-\Ft-AZtZ=HLE
16 December 2008 — 61,000,000 35,000,000 - 26,000,000 16 December 2008 to HK$0.0762
—ZTNF 15 December 2018 0.076277T
+ZATRA “EE\E+ZA+A~HE
- N\F+ZATHRAL
17 February 2009 — 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000 17 February 2009 to HK$0.099
—EEhaE-fA++A 16 February 2019 0.099/% 7T
B-ZEAF-A++LAZE
—E-AF-A+RALE
29 May 2009 — 12,000,000 - - 12,000,000 29 May 2009 to HK$0.088
—ETHE 28 May 2019 0.0887%57L
FAZt+NA BE-ZTNFRAZTNBEZE
“Z-AFRAZTNAL
Total Bt 70,790,500 249,364,984 132,615,619 - 187,539,865
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Report of the Directors

HEEHE

INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS

(@)

Directors’ and chief executives’ interest in the
Company

As at 30 June 2009, the interests or short position of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV and
Section 347 of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which is taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO); or are required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or as
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to securities transactions by directors to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange are as

wlh) % .

EFFIETHAEBRFATIRAH
BrEERA ZER

(a)

EFEREETBAENREATIZHE
=

RZZEENFNA=Z1+H ARFREH
EEBITHABRAR G ST A 1S
B(TxREFRHEKAN(EARLBE
B EXVED) 2 B - MR H R1EFH
FOEBIREE %&Hﬂiﬂ\;MﬁU%xvﬁB%?
N Een # N FE34TIR B E KR 5
R P 2 7 78 5Ok ﬁ(@%fﬁﬁwiﬁ %&
HEKRAIBEBEXMERIEREERE
ZREEIRE)  IBREBEEFSF KRBTGS
FO5216 3 F B AZIEHIFTE &t 2
@R R HRIEAIZER EWRAE
546 F567TIRMERMAEZTETESR
SMAMEG AR KRB R AT 2SR

follows:

(i) Beneficial interest and short position in Shares as at

BT

) R-ZFFAFNA=FH KRG

30 June 2009 FHEEmBm RAE
Percentage
of the
Company’s
Personal Corporate Aggregate issued share
Name of Directors Interests Interests Interests capital
L F: A
EETRA
ESlE & A S AT EE gL ZE53t
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee (Notes 1 & 2) 155,030,597 119,926,263 274,956,860 12.82%
EH Rt (M1 k2)
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing (Notes 1 & 2) 7,678,500 119,926,263 127,604,763 5.95%
=B B (W iE1Kk2)
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert (Note 1) 145,070,596 94,362,000 239,432,596 11.17%
WG (M ET)
Mr. Lam Shiu San (Note 1) 6,018,500 94,362,000 100,380,500 4.68%
MR EE S A ([ 1)
Mr. Cheng King Hung (Note 3) 200,000 500,000 700,000 0.03%
B =08 5 A (M E3)
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Report of the Directors
EESHE

INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORAT|ONS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executives’ interest in the
Company (continued)

Beneficial interest and short position in Shares as at
30 June 2009 (continued)

(@)

26

(i)

Notes:

The 94,362,000 Shares are held by Multiturn Trading
Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 31.21%,
30.9%, 30.9% and 6.99% by Ms. Wong Yuen Yee,
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert and
Mr. Lam Shiu San, respectively. Accordingly each of
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, Mr. Wong
Yao Wing, Robert and Mr. Lam Shiu San is deemed to
be interested in the 94,362,000 Shares held by Multiturn
Trading Limited under the SFO.

The 25,564,263 Shares are held by Capital Base
Holdings Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 50%
by Ms. Wong Yuen Yee and as to 50% by Mr. Wong
Kwok Sing. Accordingly each of Ms. Wong Yuen Yee and
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing is deemed to be interested in the
25,564,263 Shares held by Capital Base Holdings
Limited under the SFO.

Mr. Cheng King Hung is deemed to have an interest in
700,000 Shares, of which 200,000 Shares are held by
him and his wife jointly and 500,000 Shares are held by
his wife.

Annual Report 08/09 £ 4
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HEEHE

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited E &l1E R & R 2 5

INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED

CORPORAT|ONS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ interest in the

Company (continued)

(ii) Beneficial interests and short positions in underlying
shares of equity derivatives of the Company as at

30 June 2009

wlh) % .

EFEFIETHAERFATRAH

BEBERAEZER @

(a) EEREERETHAENRFAEZHE

i (@)

(i) RZFBFEAFANA=1TH RAEAR
AIRAPTE TR BBEREFHE

Ban#m AR

No. of shares

attached Exercise price
Name of Directors Date of grant to the option Exercisable period per share
BB E
o 3% B8 B% 1
ESKa BHBEH BB TIiTEHE BRITEE
Ms. Wong Yue Yee 23 August 2007 7,930,000 23 August 2007 to HK$0.63
= A ZETF 22 August 2017 0.63%7T
NAZ+=H —EEHFNAZFT=AZE
2+ \A=Z+=H
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing 23 August 2007 7,930,000 23 August 2007 to HK$0.63
mEE RS —ZTELF 22 August 2017 0.6377T
NAZ+=H —ZEEEFNAZT=HZE
—E—+tFNAZ+=H
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert 23 August 2007 7,930,000 23 August 2007 to HK$0.63
BRI E —ETF 22 August 2017 0.63/87T
NAZ+=H —ZETEFNAZFT=HZE
—E—+FNA=Z+=H
Mr. Lam Shiu San 23 August 2007 7,930,000 23 August 2007 to HK$0.63
MOk %8 5 A ZETF 22 August 2017 0.63%7T
NAZ+=H —EEEFNAZFT=AZE
2+ \A=Z+=H
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, 23 August 2007 1,000,000 23 August 2007 to HK$0.63
Charles —FTEF 22 August 2017 0.63787T
FERESE NAZ=+=H —ZETEEFNAZT=HZE
—E—+tFNAZ+=H
Mr. Lai Ying Sum 23 August 2007 1,000.000 23 August 2007 to HK$0.63
REREE ZETF 22 August 2017 0.63%7T
NAZ+=H —ZETEFNAZFT=HAZE
—E—+FNA=+=H
Mr. Cheng King Hung 23 August 2007 1,000,000 23 August 2007 to HK$0.63
2SS E A 4 ZETHF 22 August 2017 0.63%7T
NAZ+=H —EEHFNAZFT=AZE

—E—+t+FNA=Z+=H
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Report of the Directors
EESHE

INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORAT|ONS (continued)
(@) Directors’ and chief executives’ interest in the
Company (continued)
(i) Interests in associated corporation of the Group

EFEFIETHAERFATRAH
BtEE R A Z R

(a) EERETETHAERELATZHE
i (@)
(i) R E I EE A FE

Approximately
percentage of
shareholding as at

Name of Directors Name of associated corporation 30 June 2009
R-BFRLEFA=1+H

EENs HEEEZE Rk a 9

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee (Note) Great China Media Holdings Limited 26.31%

|+ (A7 aE) AP EFBIZERER QA

Mr. Wong Kwok Sing (Note) Great China Media Holdings Limited 26.31%

=S e r ) AP EFEBIZERAR QA

Note: Great China Media Holdings Limited is 26.31% owned by
Capital Base Holdings Limited, which is beneficially
owned as to 50% by Ms. Wong Yuen Yee and 50% by
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2009, none of the Directors
or their associates as well as the chief executives of the Group had
any interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the minimum
standards of dealing by the Directors as referred to in Rules 5.46 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2009, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the Company
or any other corporation, and neither the Directors and chief
executives of the Company, nor any of their spouse or children under
the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the
Company, or had exercised any such right.
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Report of the Directors
EESHE

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE
SECURITIES AND FUTURE ORDINANCE OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2009, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the Company had,
or were deemed to have, interests or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or
who is expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 10% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Group:

mll% .

REBESRYERBIAFHRBEZEE
B R #E

R-ZEZNFNA=Z+H BEEHHM T
AL (WERRREFTHKETETHAB)RKRG
SEERODFTEBEIE R EEFBEREESFR
HE IR B EXVEB 21 B30 2 2 1§ XA AR 7
WEZEZNARE HBHZSEATEESM
BEHRENEIRMAEBLTEAEEEMKE
RARERE LR ECEAN 2 ERERNRAT
fBE10%3K A FHE2S ¢

Number of Approximately
Shares Number of underlying percentage of
Name of shareholders Capacity interested Shares interested shareholding
BEEE 54 it 8B FimHARRZH8HE HSRESESHL
Multiturn Trading Limited Corporate (Note 1) 94,362,000 — 4.40%
EE (KT EE1)

Capital Base Holdings Limited Corporate (Note 2) 25,564,263 433,871,474 (Note 3) 21.43%

EE (K7 iE2) (K15#3)

Notes: Bt -

1. Multiturn Trading Limited is owned as to 31.21%, 30.9%, 30.9% and
6.99% by Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, Mr. Wong Yao
Wing, Robert and Mr. Lam Shiu San, respectively, all of whom are
executive Directors. Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Kwok Sing,
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert and Mr. Lam Shiu Saw are also directors
of Multiturn Trading Limited.

2. Capital Base Holdings Limited is beneficially owned as to 50% by
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee and as to 50% by Mr. Wong Kwok Sing.
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee and Mr. Wong Kwok Sing are also directors of
Capital Base Holdings Limited.

3. On 28 February 2009, the Company issued convertible notes with the
principal amount of HK$43,384,000 as consideration for acquisition of
assets. The convertible notes, with maturity date of 28 February 2011,
are convertible into Shares at an initial conversion price of HK$0.0638
per Share during the conversion period. As at 30 June 2009, an
equivalent of HK$15,703,000 convertible notes has been converted
into Ordinary Shares of the Company. The remaining balance of
convertible notes with an equivalent amount of HK$27,681,000 were
outstanding as at 30 June 2009.

Multiturn Trading LimitedFi & 8 7 22 + ~ 2B &
Sk BEMERERMKLEEEDRIHEE
31.21% ~ 30.9% - 30.9% }6.99% - it E19 A K
A RFMITE S + I8 AMultiturn Trading Limited 2
EEo

Capital Base Holdings Limited /& & i & & + &
BEEBAERESHEE0% BEmMA LTI RE
2 4% & 71 A Capital Base Holdings Limited 2 &
=

RZZEZENF AT N\BARFBETAS
743,384,000 T 2 A MR EBIERKRBEE
ZRE-EHEUBRKREEZHHERE-T——
F = A=+ /\H ' I 7] LA0.06387 T 2 ¥ 1A &5
BRERBHRBHAAERERS RZTTNF
N A=+ B 8 ER15,703,000% 7T ] #2 A% 2=
BEEEBRAARARIZEBRRG -RZTT
NEFERNA=Z+TH BT 2REEVHRREERR
& 727,681,000/8 JT °
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Report of the Directors

ERFHE

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE
SECURITIES AND FUTURE ORDINANCE OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2009, the Directors are not
aware of any other person, other than the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have, interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or who is expected, directly or indirectly,
to be interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Group.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

Details of convertible securities of the Group are set out in Note 34 to
the financial statements.

SPONSOR'’S INTEREST
As at 30 June 2009, the Company does not have any sponsor, the

previous sponsor’s agreement has expired on 31 March 2005.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2009, in so far as the Directors are aware, none of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company and one of its subsidiaries are defendants in a legal
action involving the alleged default in one of the installment payments
of purchase price to the plaintiff from which the said subsidiary of the
Company acquired certain intellectual property rights in 2004.
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Report of the Directors
EERHS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
The plaintiff claimed HK$2,550,000, being the remaining balances of

the consideration payable to the plaintiff in full together with interest
thereon and cost in June 2006. The defendants settled the disputed
installment payment as well as the subsequent installment payments
of consideration. As at 30 June 2009, the remaining balances of
consideration of payable to the plaintiff amounted to HK$50,000. As
such sum has been fully provided in the Group’s financial statements,
it is expected that no further provision will be required and no material
impact will be caused to the trading and financial condition of the
Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the members of the Group is
engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no
litigation or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to
be pending or threatened against any members of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or
sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established an audit committee on 5 July 2002 with

terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.23, 5.24 and 5.25 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The audit committee currently comprises Mr.
Wong Tak Leung, Charles, Mr. Lai Ying Sum and Mr. Cheng King
Hung who are the independent non-executive Directors. The primary
duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal control systems of the Group. The
Group’s audited results for the twelve months ended 30 June 2009
have been reviewed by the audit committee, which is of the opinion
that the audited consolidated financial statements comply with the
applicable accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in Hong Kong and that adequate disclosures have been
made.

mll% .
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ERFHE

AUDIT COMM'TTEE (continued)
The function of the Company’s audit committee includes, among
other things:

1. to consider and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditors, to approve the audit fees and terms of engagement,
and any questions of their resignation or dismissal;

2. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards; and

3. to develop and implement policy on the engagement of an
external auditor to provide non-audit services.

AUDITORS
A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, PCP CPA Limited, is
to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company as
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
INNO-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
Wong Yuen Yee

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2009
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Corporate Governance Report

TEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognizes that establishment and implementation of
good corporate governance standards helps the group to achieve its
corporate objectives and fulfill the expectations of shareholders and
stakeholders effectively. Therefore, the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) of the Company, with effect from 1 April 2005, has fully
applied the principles and complied with the requirements of the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, except for the following
deviations:

(1)

Due to the practical reasons, 14 days advance notifications
have not been given to all meetings of the board. Reasonable
notifications have been given in respect of those meetings of
the board where it is not practicable to give 14 days advance
notification. The board will use its best endeavours to give
14 days advance natifications of board meeting to the extent
practicable. (Code Provisions A.1.1 and A.1.3);

As at the date of this report, we have no formal guidelines for
employees dealings in securities (Code Provision A.5.4)
although a formal guideline has been adopted for directors.
Actions will be taken by the board to formalize the
circumstances under which employees can deal in the shares
of the Company before end of the current financial year;

Actions have yet been taken to review the internal control
systems of the Group. The Board plans to engage an external
auditor to undertake the review before the end of the current
financial year and to take appropriate course of action in this
regard based on the recommendation of the external auditor
(Code Provision C.2.1); and

No formal schedule of matters have been reserved to the Board
and those delegated to the management has been adopted by
the Group although there are guidelines for the responsibilities
and duties of members of the board and members of the
managements taking up different position. The Board has
delegated their Human Resources Department to prepare the
formal schedule for the approval of the board before the end of
the current financial year (Code Provision D.1.2).
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TEERRE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of

the GEM Listing Rules as the code for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors. All Directors confirmed that they complied
with the required standards as set out in the Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors of the Company currently comprises:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee

Mr. Wong Kwok Sing

Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert
Mr. Lam Shiu San

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles

Mr. Lai Ying Sum

Mr. Cheng King Hung

The Board is responsible for setting up the strategic goals and
direction of the business development. The senior management was
delegated with the authority for the general management and control
of the performance of the Group. In addition, various committees with
members mainly comprises independent non-executive directors
were established to assist in ensuring general compliance of the rules
and regulations imposed by various regulators. Further details of the
committees are set out in this report.
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TEERRE

BOARD OF DIR ECTORS (continued)

The Board has four scheduled regular meetings a year at quarterly
interval and meets as and when required. During the year ended
30 June 2009, 7 full board meetings and the attendance of each
director is set out as follows:

uﬂﬂ% .

EEEwW

EEerHBRANAEEeS  NEEE K
NEEEEREE REBE_STAFAA
SHEIEFEE EEeLRTLABEES-
SEERAFEALEESSGS BT

Directors Number of attendance
B= HERE
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee /7
BRRE AL

Mr. Wong Kwok Sing /7
EEBRLEL

Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert 7/7
Mr. Lam Shiu San 7/7
MRIK 28 5 &

Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles* /7
TERREE

Mr. Lai Ying Sum* 7/7
Mr. Cheng King Hung* /7
U=k e A

* Independent Non-executive Directors

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary of the Company.
Draft and final versions of the Board minutes are sent to the Directors
for their comments and records, in both cases within a reasonable
time after the meeting.

The Directors are empowered, upon the reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice under appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses, in order to discharge their responsibilities
and duties with appropriate independent professional advice.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in respect of legal
action against the Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

To ensure the compliance with the new CG Code, the role of the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company has been
segregated. Currently, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company is Ms. Wong Yuen Yee and Mr. Wong Kwok Sing,
respectively.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility is to
maintain a timely communication of the affairs of the Group to Board
members and to manage the Group’s day-to-day operation,
respectively.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
persons of high caliber, with academic and professional qualifications
in the field of accounting and law. With their solid experience, they
can provide strong support to perform their duties delegated by the
Board effectively.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are considered to be
independent by the Board as the Board received from each of them
the annual confirmation of independence as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration and review committee was established in July
2008. The committee comprises Ms. Wong Yuen Yee (Chairman),
Mr. Wong Tak Leung and Mr. Lai Ying Sum who are the independent
non-executive directors of the Company. The main role and function
included the determination of specific remuneration packages of all
executive directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive
directors. The remuneration and review committee would consider
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration.
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TEERRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The remuneration and review committee meets regularly to determine
the policy for the remuneration of directors and assess the
performance of executive directors and certain senior management of
the Company. During the year, one remuneration committee meeting
was held, the individual attendance of each member is set out below:

|ﬂﬂ% .

FNEESE @

G RN EE e THRETERMNEE 2 F
ETHRRMFHEARRNTEETAETSHE
BABZRB -FRN - AQAEEIT— X EH N
ZECeR B ARKELEREEEMO TATH

Name of members

Number of attendance

REHSZ H R
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee 11
BEHR LT

Mr. Lai Ying Sum 11
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles* 1/1
FER & &

* Independent Non-executive Directors

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 10 to the
financial statements.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The Company has no fixed terms of appointment of Independent
Non-executive Directors. However, they are appointed subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the provision of the Bye-laws.
Such practice deviates from the provision A.4.1 of the CG Code
which requires that Non-executive Directors be appointed for a
specific term. The Board has discussed and concluded that the
current practice of appointing Independent Non-executive Directors
without specific terms but otherwise subject to rotation and re-
election by shareholders was fair and reasonably, and does not
intend to change the current practice at the moment. According to
the Bye-Laws, Independent Non-executive Directors are subject to
re-election once every three years.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS
For the year ended 30 June 2009, PCP CPA Limited, the existing

external auditors received the following remuneration:

9I\H*1?§Szﬂﬂi
BE-—BZNFAASTALFE REHNE

TZ%(EW?T% e EBRERARKERT
I B

2009 2008

—EThE —ZTTNEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHERT T

Annual audit services FREEZRS 1,048 920
INTERNAL CONTROLS Py &P s 4=

The Board is entrusted with an overall responsibility of devising the
Company’s system of internal controls and conducting an annual
review of its effectiveness. This ensures that the Board oversees and
monitors the Group’s overall financial position so that the interests of
the shareholders are well protected and covered. The system of
internal controls covers the areas of financial, operational, compliance
and risk management of the Group’s business.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling of
and dissemination of price-sensitive information:

—  the Group is fully aware of its obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules;

—  the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the “Guide
on Disclosure of Price-sensitive Information” issued by the
Stock Exchange; and

— through channels such as financial reporting and public
announcements, the Group has implemented and disclosed its
policy on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusionary
distribution of information to the public.
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INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company adheres to high standards with respect to the
disclosure of all necessary information to the shareholders in
compliance with GEM Listing Rules. The Company strengthens its
communications with shareholders through various channels including
publication of interim and annual reports, press release and
announcements of the latest development of the Company in its
corporate website in a timely manner.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises all three Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr. Wong Tak Leung,
Charles as the Chairman and Mr. Lai Ying Sum and Mr. Cheng King
Hung as the members, who among themselves possess adequate
experience in the accounting and legal field. The attendance of each
member at the meeting during the year is set out as follows:

uﬂﬂ% .
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Number of attendance

HAERB
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles /7
ITRREE
Mr. Lai Ying Sum 7/7
REFRTE
Mr. Cheng King Hung 7/7
BBkt

Full minutes of Audit Committee meetings are kept by a duly
appointed Secretary of the meeting. Draft and final versions of
minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are sent to all members of
the committee for their comments and records, in both cases within a
reasonable time after the meeting.

The Audit Committee reviews the quarterly results, interim and annual
reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee
focuses not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies
and practices but also on the compliance with accounting standards,
the GEM Listing Rules and the legal requirements in the review of the
Company’s quarterly, interim and annual reports.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV A Ry

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INNO-TECH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Inno-Tech
Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 144, which
comprises the consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 30
June 2009, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit, and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ERVR A R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
30 June 2009 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER IN RELATION TO THE
GOING CONCERN BASIS FOR PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention that the Group
incurred a net loss of HK$391,000,000 for the year ended 30 June
2009 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$11,298,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis based on the considerations as set out in note 4(a) to the
consolidated financial statements, the validity of which primarily
depends upon the raising of new funds and financial support from the
substantial shareholders to cover the Group’s operating costs and to
meet its financing commitments. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that would result from a
failure to obtain such funding and financial support.

PCP CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 September 2009

Chua Suk Lin, lvy
Practising Certificate No.: P02044
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Consolidated Income Statement

= |:|\/

For the year ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=_—ZTZTNF A=+ HIEFE

Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
BT tF
BE mA—RB=Z=
—ETAE ZEENF
~A=+H NAZ=+H
ILEE LEHAfE
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
i3 TER FAT
Turnover BXEH 6 78,112 143,971
Cost of sales 88 AR (80,698) (111,964)
Gross (loss)/profit (£8)/E7 (2,586) 32,007
Other revenue H g A 7 5,487 3,742
Other net income H U 7 - 2,671
Marketing and promotion expenses TIGHEENEERX (4,660) (19,199)
Administrative expenses TERAX (74,409) (74,453)
Finance costs B E A 8(a) (4,503) (1,874)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates ~ JE G Bt A A% F /(B 18) 401 (690)
Impairment loss recognised in respect R E 5 EIERE R 2
of trade debtors B & A (122,219) (113)
Impairment loss recognised in respect  #E 3% & K H fih & Uy FE
of deposits and other receivables FEE B (17,434) (10,834)
Impairment loss recognised in respect R T — AT 2 AT &
of loan to a former associate 2 REEE (12,440) -
Impairment loss on goodwill R (E B 18 (4,322) —
Impairment loss on interest in an R—EBERRERZ
associate BB B (4,200) -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HE B A R EiE (84,375) —
Intangible assets written off mEEME (30,620) -
Loss on disposal of property, TEME MEMEEERE
plant and equipment (34,955) —
(Loss) before income tax BT EH B (EE) 8 (390,835) (68,743)
Income tax FriS i 9 (165) (2,609)
(Loss) attributable to equity holders REkEE B AFE(E (E18) (391,000) (71,352)
(Loss) per share f& (&18)
— Basic (HK cents) —EARGEAL) 12(a) (25.08) (6.28)
— Diluted (HK cents) — 858 GBAL) 12(p) N/A FER N/A N A
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. Wi AR BmEk e —Ho
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

R EERE

At 30 June 2009 f\fffﬁ FRA=TH

wlh) % .

2009 2008
—ETAE —EENF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
okza FHET TET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 14 24,866 24,285
Prepaid lease payments TEATFE & FE 15 - 34,319
Intangible assets mILEE 16 36,065 79,355
Goodwill RS 17 — 60,643
Interests in associates KB & QR 2 19 42,908 2,353
Interest in a jointly controlled entity NIRRT TR ER 20 — —
Available-for-sale investment HEEKRE 21 18,900 -
Loans to an associate m—ABE R ER 22(a) - 6,273
122,739 207,228
Current assets mBEE
Trading securities — pledged EEELE-DHEMA 23 — 1,024
Derivative financial instruments TEERmIT A
— pledged —B & - 170
Inventories TE 24 1,449 1,175
Accounts receivables FE Uk BE 7 25 4,133 85,162
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE Rk
other receivables H fth pE W s e 5,091 82,989
Loans to an associate M — B E N ET BR 22(a) — 6,440
Tax recoverable A Uy [B] 75 18 33(a) = 317
Pledged deposits e e 26 10,000 13,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIREEEY 27 735 37,305
e 21408 - 227,582
Current liabilities REBAE
Bank loans and overdrafts WITERNEY 28 11,957 14,837
Trade payables, accrued expenses BHREMNER EBAERAR
and other payables Eh jE < RUIE 29 10,304 20,904
Promissory note N 30 6,702 —
Amounts due to directors FENESHIE 22(d) 2,140 55,559
Convertible notes R E }E‘E 34 1,603 —
32,706 91,300

The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

weBERE

At30June 2009 R—ZTENFA=+H

2009 2008
—ETBAE —EEN\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
ol FHETT AT
Net current (liabilities)/assets REN(BE) EERE (11,298) 136,282
Total assets less current liabilities EBEREZHER 111,441 343,510
Non-current liabilities R EE
Deferred taxation R IE 33(b) 7,954 7,789
Convertible notes AR R IE 34 20,503 —
28,457 7,789
Net assets BEZE 82,084 335,721
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAREE
Share capital % 35 42,884 24,544
Reserves & 37(a) 40,100 311,177
82,984 335,721
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on M EHERENR_ZETZAFAA T ILBEES
29 September 2009 gHE R R

WONG YUEN YEE
=5
Director

EF

The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

BiE

At30June2009 M -ZEAFNA=TH

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited E &l1E R & R 2 5

wlh) % .

2009 2008
—EETAE —ETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
ok T FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries SN NEG]! Z % i?Ti 18 5,637 66,122
Loans to an associate m—EEBEARER 22(a) - 6,273
5,637 72,395
Current assets RENEE
Derivative financial instruments fTEe/m I A-B K
— pledged - 170
Trading securities — pledged EEEAE-DHEMA 23 - 1,024
Prepayments and other receivables TERT FRIA K H A F E W FKIR 167 7,483
Loans to an associate ] — [ Bt & A 7] ,Ty\ 22(a) - 6,440
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE W B B 22(b) 89,041 249,098
Pledged deposits 2T %ﬂ 26 10,000 10,000
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIBESEEY 27 81 158
99,289 274,373
Current liabilities HRENEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETB B A A 22(c) 13,757 10,890
Amounts due to directors FERfEERE 22(d) 245 45
Accrued expenses and other payables &zt & F & ﬁ i FE 1~ FR 1B 29 2,827 2,188
Promissory note A EE 30 6,702 —
Convertible notes R ERE 34 1,603 —
25,134 13,123
Net current assets REEEEE 74,155 261,250
Total assets less current liabilities @EEERBTIER 79,792 333,645

The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
BEAE

At30June 2009 M-ZEZEAFEANA=+AH

2009 2008
—EEAE —EETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
1t FH#ET FET

Non-current liabilities ERHER
Convertible notes CIRY =8 34 20,503 —
20,503 —
NET ASSETS BEFE 59,289 333,645

CAPITAL AND RESERVES ARG
Share capital g 35 42,884 24,544
Reserves g 37(b) 16,405 309,101
59,289 333,645

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on HEHRRENR _ZEEAFAA-ZTNLBEES

29 September 2009 S ERREER
WONG YUEN YEE WONG KWOK SING
=5 =EEE
Director Director
EE Ea
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. M AR BEHRERZ 2D -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

== N\ 7/
$ / ~ lilh:lm

\\/T\

For the year ended 30 June 2009

R

ey

5= =p—

ZTNFRA=ZTRHIEFE

mll% .

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FATREFAAENL
Retained
Share Convertible Capital Investment profits/
Share Share options notes Contributed redemption Exchange revaluation (Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve  reserve reserve losses) Total
Tk &% REEfE  RIEN/
Bx  RiviEE BRERE FERE  SNER HERG ERXRE 1 e ) At
HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
THEL FET THEL TFHEL FET TFHEL THEL TFHEL THEL TERL
At 1 April 2007 RZZStEMA-A 8,602 37,213 1,462 160 5,625 43 (34 - 11,020 64,151
Loss for the period HAEE - - - - - - - - (71,352)  (71,352)
Total recognised income and expenses HRERR
for the period ET L - - - - - - - - 71,352 (71,352)
Issuance of shares ETRH 12,718 266,423 - - - - - - - 279,141
Fair value of options granted REBRESATE - 34,251 - - - - - - 84251
Exercise of share options Ll fie 1964 49,758 (12,493) - - - - - - 39,229
Shares issuance costs BHETER - (15614 - - - - - - - (15614
Exercise of convertible notes, net of IETARER
transaction costs BRI HHE 1,260 5,026 - (160) - - - - - 6,126
Exchange difference on consolidation BABEAZERER - - - - - - (1) - - (1)
15942 305,593 21,758 (160) - - (211) - - 342922
At 30 June 2008 RZZZENEXAZHA 24544 342,866 23,220 - 5,625 43 (245) - (60,332 335,721
At 1 July 2008 RZZZN\E+A—-H 24544 342,866 23,220 - 5,625 43 (245) - (60,332) 335,721
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - - (391,000 (391,000)
Total recognised income and expenses FRNEHER
for the year IS3 L - - - - - - - - (391,000) (391,000
Issuance of shares %" ﬂH f 5814 49957 - - - - - - - 55N
Fair value of options granted HEREZ ATE - - 28,233 - - - - - - 28233
Equity component of convertible BENREZRASS
notes issued - - - 15,448 - - - - - 15,448
Exercise of share options Ll fie 2,652 29416 (15,095) - - - - - - 17,013
Shares issuance costs DE R m - (1,881) - - - - - - - (1881)
Exercise of convertible notes, net of TEATRER
transaction costs BHKRR %ﬁi{ $ 9874 21222 - (6,817) - - - - — 24219
Fair value changes of HHEREZATEEY
avallable-for-sale investment - - - - - - - (640) - (640)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal ¢ 5Bt B A 7] % @
of foreign subsidlaries EREE - - - - - - 7 - - 7
Exchange difference on consolidation SABEEVZERES - - - - - - 32 - - (32)
18,340 98,714 13,178 8,631 - - 40 (640) - 138,263
At 30 June 2009 RZZTNERRZTAH 42,884 441580 36,398 8,631 5,625 43 (205) (640) (451,332) 82,984
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. M aARGHmEk s —5Ho -
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

AR ESRER

For the year ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=_—ZTZTNF A=+ HIEFE

Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
BT LF
BE mA—RA=
—ETAE ZETNF
~A=+H NA=1+8
ILEE 1F AR
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
K &t TFHET T IT
Operating activities BEER
(Loss) before income tax B TS A AT (B548) (390,835) (68,743)
Adjustments for: RATIEEELFAE
— Depreciation — e 9,392 6,882
— Release of prepaid lease payments — BREERERMD 879 232
— Inventories written off — FE M 319 -
— Impairment loss recognised in respect — HERE 5 FE R X
of trade debtors Zﬂ BHE#E 122,219 113
— Impairment loss recognised in respect  — FERIZ & & E b fE UL =X
of deposits and other receivables H 2 B EEE 17,434 10,834
— Impairment loss recognised in respect  — W2 F — & AT B & 2 7
of loans to a former associate BRZBERBE 12,440 -
— Amortisation of intangible assets —BREEHE 20,870 14,025
— Loss on disposal of subsidiaries — HENBAGEE 84,375 —
— Share of (profits)/losses of associates ~ — EAG 5 & A 7 G F)
S BB (401) 690
— Interest income — MBI A (501) (3,465)
— Share-based payments — UEHhABER 2T H 28,233 34,250
— Impairment loss on goodwill — HEZRERE 4,322 —
— Impairment loss on interest in —R—HEBEERRER L
an associate B B 4,200 —
— Intangible assets written off — B EEME 30,620 —
— Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, — Hj EWE - BEK
plant and equipment EEEE (M) 34,955 (556)
— Net gain on disposal of an associate — ’% iR/l
W 558 = (2,119)
— Dividends income — BB A (14) @)
— Finance costs — % EAR 4,503 1,874
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

,\\/T\/\iﬁiﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 30 June 2009 & Z —ZZNF A=+ HILEE

wlh) % .

Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
—ETLF
BE WMA—B=Z=
—ETAE ZETNF
~A=+H NA=+H8
ILEE IEHA
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
K &t FHET FAT
Operating (loss) before changes in RITBEESLEHPZE
working capital 2 (518) (16,990) (5,981)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEMm R (879) 12
(Increase) in accounts receivables i W BR 3k (38 0) (41,365) (29,292)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, FERFRE ek
deposits and other receivables H e e R IER A
(3% 1) 50,310 (88,462)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to ERNEEFECRD)
directors 12 10 (53,412) 46,204
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables, 25 EMNRR - EET
accrued expenses and other payables i%? FA N E  FE 1 BB
Cri) /1 11 (7,632) 6,530
Cash (used in) operations Z2E(ERIZERES (69,968) (70,989
Hong Kong profits tax refund/(paid) RE (B8 ES
MFH 317 (1,167)
Net cash (used in) operating activities #EZZ¥({EHH)
ZE2FHE (69,651) (72,156)
Investing activities BREED
Loans to an associate m— e R RIER = (12,713)
Decrease/(increase) in trading securities — B & & 55 5 2> (3 1n0)
pledged — B 1,024 (1,024)
Decrease/(increase) in derivative financial ~ $74 & & T A 4,7
instruments — pledged (g m) — B EA 170 (170)
Interest received B FE 501 3,465
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB E W% « B E MR & (52,129) (22,027)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEWEE (8,200) (65,760)
Purchase of prepaid lease payments BEEMNHEERE - (34,545)
Purchase of an associate BE —HBE QA (971) —
Purchase of available-for-sale investment B8 & A] ff H £/ & (77) —
Proceeds from disposals of land and HE T REFAE
buildings IR = 6,713
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant & %7 % ﬁ% g
and equipment SIECEg! 345 —
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
/\‘/ A Eﬁi;ﬁ%%

For the year ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=_—ZTZTNF A=+ HIEFE

Period from

Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
BE_ZTTLF

BE mMA—HB=Z=
—BEAE —ETNF
~A=+H ~NA=+8

ILEE 1F AR
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
K &t FTH&ET FABT
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HE—HBE QARG
=g - 3,478
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash and U BEFT B A 7 » E f0BR AT
cash equivalents acquired WEReMNREEEY 38 (536) (1,516)
Decrease in pledged deposits EERBHFEFRLD 3,000 —
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cashand  HEWE QA - EH %
cash equivalents disposed BEHEzREMRS
EEY 39 2,862 —
Dividends income g 2 WA 14 —
Net cash (used in) investing activities R&EFH(EHR)ZRE
B (53,997) (124,099)
Financing activities &R
Net proceeds from issuance of new shares 2517 #7170 FT 18 R IE J$ 58 70,904 243,788
Interest paid EAF B (2,587) (1,858)
Proceeds from new bank loans sk ?T BRFT1S3B 21,667 —
Repayment of other loans EEEMER - (5,150)
Repayment of bank loans BERITERX - (4,960)
Net cash generated from financing REFEHMBZRE
activities B8 89,984 231,820
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HEeERBLZEEY
cash equivalents (iBD),/ danisaE (33,664) 35,565
Effect of foreign exchange ERase (26) (220)
Cash and cash equivalents at F/HNZ2EHEEREEE
beginning of year/period EY 32,468 (2,877)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of & H&R2HLRELE
year/period =LY 27 (1,222) 32,468
The annexed notes form part of these financial statements. Wi AR BRE s — o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B T T 3 *

For the year ended 30 June 2009 B ZE—ZTZNFAAA=-THILEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda on 19 November 2001 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Act of Bermuda. The
shares of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (the “GEM”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Room 903 Tung Wai
Commercial Building, 109-111 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 18.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS
AND INTERPRETATIONS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
which are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

Reclassification of financial assets

K(IFRIC) — Int 12 Service concession arrangements

K(IFRIC) — Int 13 Customer loyalty programmes

K (IFRIC) — Int 14 HKAS 19: The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their
interaction

HK (IFRIC) — Int 9 & Embedded derivatives

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

— iR & #
EEZERERAR(ARADRZEZE
—¢+ At+thBEBREREBERE
NAFEAMK L AEREERAE K
NEIROEEAHAERIMBR A F ([H
RETDEIZER([BIZEMR]) ETHe AQRFZ
TR EFELRTELERY D A A
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda&%f/%/%ﬁii
}T#8109-1115% 3 B 5 % A E903=E

BARBRENAAANEEEBLL
4 -

ARRARBREERAR -MBRAZE
REBENHES

REnEE] RAEIETTE T A - 8
] R

RAFE AEBEEERANLNTHEL
SIMAS(EEGFMAE])EMIE
EERHRERBERZERT M (5
TR REED]) -

BECHENENE SBRIENEFHE
MEBMBEREE
AIE75% (1BR])
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS
AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)

The application of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on
how the results and financial position for the current or prior
accounting periods have been prepared and presented.
Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been required.

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 & HKAS 1
(Amendments)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27

(Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 8
HK (IFRIC) — Int 2
(Amendments)

HK (IFRIC) — Int 15
HK (IFRIC) — Int 16
HK (IFRIC) — Int 17

HK (IFRIC) — Int 18
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Improvements to HKFRSs™
Improvements to HKFRSs 2009
Presentation of financial statements®
Borrowing costs®

Consolidated and separate financial
statements®

Puttable financial instruments and
obligations arising on liquidation®

Eligible hedged items®

Cost of an investment in a subsidiary,
jointly controlled entity or
associate®

Additional exemptions for first-time
adopters®

First-time adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards®

Vesting conditions and cancellations®

Group cash-settled share-based
payment transactions®
Business combinations®

Improving disclosures about financial
instruments®

Operating segments®

Members’ shares in co-operative
entities and similar instruments®

Agreements for the construction of
real estate®

Hedges of a net investment in a
foreign operation®

Distribution of non-cash assets to
owners®

Transfers of assets from customers®”
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2

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS
AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)

M Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009 except for the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009, 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate

® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

© Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2010

© Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October
2008

4 Effective for transfers received on or after 1 July 2009

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition
dates are on or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect
the accounting treatment for changes in the Group’s ownership
interest in a subsidiary. The directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of the other new and revised standards,
amendments or interpretations will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A
summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out in note 4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$391,000,000 for
the year ended 30 June 2009 and, as of that date, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$HK$11,298,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the raising of new funds and financial
supports from the substantial shareholders to cover the
Group’s operating costs and to meet is financing
commitments. The substantial shareholders have
confirmed their intention and ability to provide continuing
financial support to the Group so as to enable it to meet
its liabilities as and when they fall due and to carry on its
business for the foreseeable future.

In light of the measures described above, the directors
are confident that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligation as and when they
fall due. Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion that
it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. These
consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments relating to the carrying amount and
reclassification of assets and liabilities that might be
necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under historical cost convention, except for
certain financial instruments which are measured at fair
values.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect that application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only the period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity, or area where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in note 5.

The Group’s financial year end date has been changed
from 31 March to 30 June in 2008. In current year, the
comparative amounts covered a period of fifteen months
from 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2008 which are not entirely
comparable to the current year amounts for the
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement
of change in equity and consolidated cash flow statement
and the notes to the financial statements thereon.

Basis of consolidation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates and
jointly controlled entities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that are presently exercisable are
taken into account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Subsidiaries (continued)

An investment in subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Minority interests represent the portion of the net assets
of subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned
by the Company, whether directly or indirectly through
subsidiaries, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
Minority interests are presented in the consolidated
balance sheet within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Minority interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated income
statement as an allocation of the total profit or loss for
the period between minority interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the
minority’s interests in the equity of a subsidiary, the
excess, and any further losses applicable to the minority,
are charged against the Group’s interest except to the
extent that the minority has a binding obligation to, and is
able to, make additional investment to cover the losses.
If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the Group’s
interest is allocated to all such profits until the minority’s
share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has
been recovered.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in
subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 4(k)). The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Associates and jointly controlled entities

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates
under a contractual arrangement between the Group or
Company and other parties, where the contractual
arrangement establishes that the Group or Company and
one or more of the other parties share joint control over
the economic activity of the entity.

An investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity
is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method and is initially recorded at cost
and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in
the Group’s share of the associate’s or the jointly
controlled entity’s net assets. The consolidated income
statement includes the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the associates and jointly
controlled entities for the year.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying
amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment
as part of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate or the jointly controlled entity, the Group’s
interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate or the jointly controlled entity. For the
purpose, the Group’s interest in the associate or the
jointly controlled entity is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the
jointly controlled entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Associates and jointly controlled entities
(continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and jointly
controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the associate or jointly controlled
entity, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In the Company’s balance sheet, its investments in
associates and jointly controlled entities are stated at
cost less impairment losses (see note 4(k)). The results of
the associates and jointly controlled entities are
accounted by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination or an investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and
is tested annually for impairment (see note 4(k)). In
respect of associates or jointly controlled entities, the
carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the interest in the associate or jointly controlled
entity.

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of a business combination or an
investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of a cash generating unit, an associate or a
jointly controlled entity during the year, any attributable
amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments
in debt and equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, are
as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially
stated at cost, which is their transaction price unless fair
value can be more reliably estimated using valuation
technigues whose variables include only data from
observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as
current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At each balance
sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include
any dividends or interest earned on these investments.

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the
Company have the positive ability and intention to hold to
maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities.
Held-to-maturity securities are stated in the balance
sheet at amortised cost less impairment losses (see note
4(K)).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured are recognised in the
balance sheet at cost less impairment losses (see note
4(K)).
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

() Other investments in debt and equity
securities (continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the
above categories are classified as available-for-sale
securities. At each balance sheet date the fair value is
remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised directly in equity, except foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from changes in the amortised
cost of monetary items such as debt securities which are
recognised directly in profit or loss. Dividend income from
these investment is recognised in profit and loss in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4w(v) and,
where these investments are interest-bearing, interest
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit and loss in accordance with the
policy set out in note 4w(iv). When these investments are
derecognised or impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in

profit and loss (see note 4(k)).

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or

they expired.

(g) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at
fair value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair

value is charged immediately to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Property, plant and equipment

(i)

(i)

(i)

Valuation

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
balance sheet at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 4(k)).
Subsequent expenditure relating to a property,
plant and equipment that has already been
recognised is added to the carrying amount of the
asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits, in excess of the originally assessed
standard of performance of the existing asset, will
flow to the Group. All other subsequent
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation

Buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land are depreciated over the shorter of
the unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being 50 years.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
other property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis as
follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Equipment 5 years
Motor vehicle 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

Disposals

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the
estimated net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the
income statement on the date of retirement or
disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(i)

)

(i)

(i)

(i)

Valuation

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
and with finite useful lives are stated in the balance
sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see note 4(k)).

Subsequent expenditure on an intangible asset
after its purchase or its completion is recognised
as an expense when it is incurred unless it is
probable that this expenditure will enable the asset
to generate future economic benefits in excess of
its originally assessed standard of performance
and this expenditure can be measured and
attributed to the asset reliably. If these conditions
are met, the subsequent expenditure is added to
the cost of the intangible asset.

Amortisation

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful
lives as follows:

Patents and trademarks
Computer software

15 years
5 years

Disposals

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of an asset and are recognised in
the income statement when the asset is de-
recognised.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a
specific asset or assets for an agreed period of tie in
return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of
whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

Leased assets (continued)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value of
the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets are included in
fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities, net of
finance charges, are recorded as obligations under
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost or valuation of the assets over the term
of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set
out in note 4(h). Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of
the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period. Contingent
rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets

U

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities (other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities) and other current and
non-current receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost or are classified as available-for-
sale securities are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes
to the attention of the group about one or more of
the following loss events:

—  significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

— For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of
the financial asset and the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset
where the effect of discounting is material.
Impairment losses for equity securities are
not reversed.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)
()  Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (continued)

For trade and other current receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets), where the effect
of discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for
financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)
() Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (continued)

For available-for-sale securities, the
cumulative loss that has been recognised
directly in equity is removed from equity and
is recognised in profit or loss. The amount of
the cumulative loss that is recognised in
profit or loss is the difference between the
acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that asset
previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or
loss in respect of available-for-sale equity
securities are not reversed through profit or
loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair
value of such assets is recognised directly in
equity.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-
sale debt securities are reversed if the
subsequent increase in fair value can be
objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised.
Reversals of impairment losses in such
circumstances are recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade debtors and bills receivable included
within trade and other receivables, whose
recovery is considered doubtful but not
remote. In this case, the impairment losses
for doubtful debts are recorded using an
allowance account. When the group is
satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade debtors and bills receivable directly
and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)

(k)

()

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indications that the following items may be
impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have been
decreased:

— interest in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities;

— property, plant and equipment;

— prepaid lease payments;

— intangible assets and

—  goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment
loss is recognised in the income statement
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount.

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest Group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of other assets (continued)

(k)

0

()

(i)

(i)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
Group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or Group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

o

(m)

(n)

(o)

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from
an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debt except where
the receivables are interest-free loans made to related
parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

Service contracts
The accounting policy for contract revenue is set out in
note 4(w).

Service contracts in progress at the balance sheet date
are recorded in the balance sheet at the net amount of
costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised
losses and recognised losses and progress billings, and
are presented in the balance sheet as the “Gross
amounts due from customers” (as an asset) or “Gross
amounts due to customers” (as a liability), as applicable.
Progress billings not yet paid by the customers are
included in the balance sheet under “Trade debtors”.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave
passage, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme as required under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
are recognised as an expense in the income
statement as incurred.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the Binomial Option Pricing Model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the income
statement for the year of review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of
the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires
(when it is released directly to retained profits).
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and
only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself
to terminate employment or to provide benefits as
a result of voluntary redundancy by having a
detailed formal plan which is without realistic
possibility of withdrawal.

(9) Income tax

U)

(i)

(i)

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised
directly in equity, in which case they are recognised
in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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72

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

(q)

(i)

(continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as
the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible for
tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Income tax (continued)

(i)

(iv)

(continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances,
and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if
the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the Company or the Group intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q)

r)

(s)

Income tax (continued)
(iv)  (continued)
—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortized cost, except for
short term payable with no stated interest rate and the
effect of discounting being immaterial that are measured
at their original invoice amount.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer
(i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated)
is initially recognised as deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is received or
receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in profit or losses
on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over the
term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are recognised
in accordance with note 4(s) if and when (i) it becomes
probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon
the Group under the guarantee, and (i) the amount of
that claim on the Group is expected to exceed the
amount currently carried in trade and other payables in
respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time
do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

v)

Convertible notes (continued)

At initial recognition the liability components of the
convertible notes is measured as the present value of the
future interest and principal payments, discounted at the
market rate of interest applicable at the time of initial
recognition to similar liabilities that do not have a
conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component is
recognised as the equity component. Transaction costs
that relate to the issue of a compound financial
instrument are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using the
effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the note is
converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the capital reserve, together with
the carrying amount of the liability component at the time
of conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the
note is redeemed, the capital reserve is released directly
1o retained profits.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortized costs with any difference between the
amount initially recognised and redemption value being
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Revenue recognition
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in the profit or loss as follows:

(i)

(i)

(i)

()

(v)

(vi)

Residential intranet and software application design
services

Revenue arising from the provision of residential
intranet and software application design services is
recognised when the underlying services are
rendered, which is estimated by apportionment
over the expected duration of each engagement,
and the outcome of the contract can be estimated
with reasonable certainty.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered
at the customer which is taken to be the point in
time when the customer has accepted the goods
and the related risks and rewards of ownership.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Hotel service
Revenue is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using effective interest method.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x) Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development expenditure is recognised only if it is
anticipated that the development costs incurred on a
clearly-defined project will be recovered through future
economic activity. The resultant asset is amortized on a

straight-line basis over its useful life.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Development expenditure previously recognised as an
expense is not recognised as an asset in a subsequent

period.

(y) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred, except to the extent
that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to

get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary
to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale

are interrupted or complete.

(z) Promissory notes

Promissory notes are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest rate method.

(aa) Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, party is

considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one of more intermediaries, to control the
Group or exercise significant influence over the
Group in making financial and operating policy
decisions, or has joint control over the Group;
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4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(aa)

(bb)

Related parties (continued)
(ii) the Group and the party are subject to common
control;

(iiy  the party is an associate of the Group or a joint
venture in which the Group is a venture;

(iv)  the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a
close family member of such as individual, or is an
entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals;

(v)  the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such
individuals;

(vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan which
is for the benefit of employees of the Group or of
any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates of exchange ruling at the dates of transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the
rates of exchange ruling at that date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the date when the fair value was
determined. Profits and losses arising on exchange are
dealt with in profit or loss.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
overseas operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group at exchange rates prevailing on
the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange difference arising, if any, are classified as
equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve.
Such translation differences are recognised as income or
as expense in the period in which the operation is
disposed of.
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4  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(cc) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group
that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting system, the Group has chosen business
segment information as the primary reporting format and
geographical segment information as the secondary
reporting format for the purposes of these financial
statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. For example, segment assets may include
inventories, trade receivables and property, plant and
equipment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets, and
liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and
intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the
consolidation process, except to the extent that such
intra-group balances and transactions are between
Group entities within a single segment. Inter-segment
pricing is based on similar terms as those available to
other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred
during the period to acquire segment assets (both
tangible and intangible) that are expected to be used for
more than one period.
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 B ZE—_ZTZNFAA=-THILEFE

5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
management is required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are readily apparent from other sources. The estimates,
judgments and associated assumptions are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The Group makes estimates and underlying assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(i) Allowances of bad debts

Significant judgment is exercised in the assessment of
the collectibility of accounts receivable from each
customer. In making its judgment, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of
follow-up procedures performed by sales personnel,
customers’ payment trend including subsequent
payments and customers’ financial position.

(ii) Valuation of share options

Determining the fair value of share options granted
requires estimation on the assumption used in the
Binomial model. The Binomial model requires the Group
to estimate volatilities of the share price and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the fair value. As at 30
June 2009, the fair values of the share options granted
recognised as shared-based payment expenses are
HK$28,233,000 (2008: HK$34,251,000) Details of the
calculation are disclosed in note 36.

5

uﬂﬂ% .

B &8 E et fli 5T R U ER

RERBASREZEFBEN THEA
R EHEMENKRBR2EERAR
FREE A BET RRER - AR AR
RRERAZBELRLEMRAXFEN
BT HERBERR  BRRTRB
MATHAREHFHBEEEAE 25 -
ERERAGEZFHABMAR -

AEEGBLRKELGBFRERER-
HELAZE@FEFEREREERIAFR
ERERER ABEREEMAERE
BEARTEMBRFEFEEAFABZERXN
R\ 2 et R B ET A | e

() AR
R ELfE R B ALE P U e pE W BR 5k 2
A RS MEBF B /E D E K HET - ROE D
HHaEgn TEEEERECHEE
PIMEEABRETIECHR T
FHRER BEREZHERE
P B -

(i) GR{HASAEHE
REEELEREZ AFERN &
ZEFAEEHATCEREPAER
ZREF - -—HAATEREFTEALASE
EETRDZEEBREEZIRE
RABAFE- R _ETNENA
—TH - BEBREERAENARS
BEMEIFZAIZAFE
/28,233,000 T(Z & T )N\ &F:
34,251,000/ 7t) ° I 5E362k 71 & @
ATEZEE-
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5

82

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)
(iii) Measurement of convertible notes

On issuance of convertible notes, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using a market rate for
an equivalent non-convertible note; and this amount is
carried as a liability on the amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in the

shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs.

The determination of the liability component requires an

estimation of the market interest rate.

(iv) Fair value of available-for-sale investment

As described in note 21, the directors use their judgment
in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for the
financial instrument not quoted in an active market.
Valuation techniques commonly used by market
practitioners are applied. The Group’s unlisted equity
instruments with carrying amount of HK$18,900,000
(2008: HK$NIl) are valued using a discounted cash flow
analysis based on assumptions supported, where
possible, by observable market prices or rates. The
estimation of fair value of these equity instruments also
includes some assumptions not supported by observable

market prices or rates.
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 #Z —ZZNF A=+ HILFE

6

TURNOVER

Turnover represents design of residential intranet, provision of
e-property management software application consulting
services and trading of home-automation, provision of hotel
services and other products in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The amount of each significant
category of revenue recognised in turnover during the year/
period is as follows:

]

EERBERTERPEARKME(H
BDRAEFPABE RHUHEFYMEER
EREH#EARE BEEREBHLLE
M REVBERB R EMBER - F/HR
REFEBRAZETBZREDBOHREN

7 /7

7

Period from

Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
—ETLF

BE mMA—B=Z=
—E¥AE —EENF
~A=+H ~NA=+8

IEEE 1EHA
HK$°000 HK$’'000
THERT FAT
Income from design of residential intranet, R {EP NEEH - IRERE B
provision of home-automation services LRGN EEEBERZ
and trading of related products WA 74,374 142,686
Income from hotel services B TE R 2 WA 3,738 1,285
78,112 143,971
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84

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NETINCOME 7 Hilr A\ R E b iBugss
Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
BE-ZTZTtHF
BE mAE—HZ
—EEAE —EENF
~B=1+H NA=+H
ILEE 1F A7 A
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Other revenue Hibug A
Bank interest income RITFEMA 132 3,025
Dividend income from listed securities RKELEWESFZKRERA 14 2
Other interest income H ) S A 369 440
Rental income el A = 257
Other income MIEUWA 4,972 18
5,487 3,742
Other net income HihiFlgs
Net gain on disposal of an associate & — S Qe FRE = 2,115
Net gain on disposal of property, plant HEME BME NMEE
and equipment F U = = 556
- 2,671
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 #Z —ZZNF A=+ HILFE

8 (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX

(Loss) before income tax is arrived at after charging:

8 KMEHN(EHE)
[ AT B A1 (B548) 4Nk T 514508 -

wlh) % .

Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
BE-_ZTTLF
B=E MA—HBH=Z=
—EBEAE —ETNF
~A=+H NA=+H
ILEE LEEA
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FABTT
(a) Finance costs: (@) MBER:
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts ERAFABHEE
wholly repayable within five years RITERRBEXFE 2,569 1,681
Interest on other loan HiEHHE 18 24
Interest on convertible notes AR EE R A
(note 34) (Kt i34) 1,768 169
Interest on promissory note EAT BB F B (M i#50)
(note 30) 148 -
4,503 1,874
(b) Staff costs: b) EIRA:
Contributions to defined contribution TE FA M GBI R
plan 249 319
Long service payment REIRB TR = 83
Share-based payments ARt B E i 2 S 28,233 34,251
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe LERHMER 13,528 20,422
42,010 55,075
Average number of employees FHREE A 123 52
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8

86

(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued) 8 KEHm(GBER@®
(Loss) before income tax is arrived at after charging: BRETS AT (BB EHkR T5I&E :
Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
B-ZEZTLF
BE MA—H=
—EEAE —EENF
~A=+H A~NA=1+8
IEEE 1F AR
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T T
(c) Otheritems: (c) HMIEH :
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKRAR 67,046 94,752
Amortisation of intangible assets EmREESE 20,870 14,025
Release of prepaid lease payments TN HEERIEE D 879 232
Auditor's remuneration Z SR BN & 1,048 920
Depreciation on owned assets BEEEENE 9,392 6,882
Operating lease charges in respect MAEYELE
of office premises HEMX 1,685 1,885
Exchange loss & 5 & B 740 2,926
Intangible assets written off E|IEEMHE 30,620 -
Impairment loss recognised in BREZERKERZ
respect of trade debtors BB & 18 122,219 113
Impairment loss recognised in BRILES M E M EW
respect of deposits and other BRI R E RSB
receivables 17,434 10,834
Impairment loss recognised in t# ?d T — AT E R A
respect of loan to a former ERZBERRE
associate 12,440 —
Impairment loss on goodwill EENCAEY 4,322 -
Impairment loss on interest in an N—EBE AR
associate REE B 4,200 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBRREE 84,375 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant TEME BMEMEHZ
and equipment &5 18 34,955 -
Fair value change on derivative PTEemI A
financial instruments ’& QZTE &) = 316
Fair value change on trading BEERHFZATEED
securities = 266
Loss on derivative financial PTESMIAEE
instruments = 24
Loss on trading securities REFEHEIE - 198
Research and development costs i 95 B FA B¢ Bk A - 151
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 & Z —ZZNF A=+ HILEE

8

(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued)

The cost of sales includes inventories written off of HK$319,000
(2008: HK$NIl) and aggregate employee benefits expense,
amortisation of intangible assets and operating lease charges in
respect of office premises of approximately HK$13,333,000
(2008: HK$16,183,000), which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed above for each of these
types of expenses.

wlh) % .

BrPTIRBian (B518) @

$HE A AN B IR 17 & i $5319,0008 T (=&
ZNF - EBT)ANREERAAL &5 -
TE BEFEEBEHELBERAEMEZK
&8 X 413,333,000 L (ZEE N
F 116,183,000/ 7T) * WWEREIREFA
LR ERIEEC RS-

INCOME TAX FRig#
Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
BT tF
BE mMA—RB=ZE
—EEAE —ETNF
~A=+H ~NA=1H
ILEE LE A
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
(a) Taxation in the consolidated (a) #Z&ERRZHBIENE :
income statement represents:
Current tax AEIPiIE
(Overn)-provision in respect of prior BAFE (BEEE)
years = (204)
- (204)
Deferred tax EEHIE
Origination and reversal of temporary TREZE 2T LER
differences (note 33(b)) (#15%33(b)) 165 2,813
165 2,609

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2008: HK$NIl).

0 7 8 A A 4 S AR S O 2 U
BB E U B R SR BB R
BECEENE BT
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88

|NCOME TAX (continued)

(b)

9 Fi@Ediwm

Reconciliation between tax expense and (b)
accounting (loss) at applicable tax rates:

PERXBZEAREFEZ
Bt (BHR) BZHRDT :

Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
2T EF
BE mMA—B=Z=
—EBEAE —ETNF
~A=+H NA=1+H
ILEE 1E A
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTERT FA&T
(Loss) before income tax BTSRRI (EBER) (390,835) (68,743)
Notional tax on (loss) before income BREWEABRERAE
tax, calculated at applicable tax rates B Fr 15 %4 A (E548) 2 % -
in the respective countries g (39,571) (1,619)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses Al 0 % H 2 B 15 5 & 45,186 2,248
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue ERBMAZ BB E (8,796) (413)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RKERZASAHRBBEZ
recognised Mg e 3,580 3,027
Over-provision of profits tax in prior BAEFERNGHBEREE
years — (204)
Others HAt (234) (146)
Change in tax rate TMERED) - (284)
Actual tax expense ERBERY 165 2,609
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 #Z —ZZNF A=+ HILFE

wlh) % .

10 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10 EEREESEZHNE

REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of

EEME

BREBBRTEDE161GEIEZEEM

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: SHWENAT

Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
BE-ZT+F
BE MH—H=Z=
—EFBAE —ETNF
~A=+H ~NA=+H
ILEE 1EHA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET
Fees we 420 473

Basic salaries, allowances and other EXFE  ZMREMET
benefits 4,594 11,340
Share-based payments AR ABERE 2 H - 14,692
Long service payments REBR S 1+ 3% = 61
Retirement scheme contribution RAKET 23X 48 60
5,062 26,626
Number of directors EEAH 7 /
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10 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10 EEREESEZHNE @
REMUNERAT'ON (continued)

Directors’ remuneration (continued) EENE @
The remuneration of directors for the year ended 30 June 2009 BE-_ZTTZNFAAA=Z+HILFEZE
is set out below: EWS AT
Retirement
Discretionary Share-based Long service scheme
Fees Salary bonuses  payments  payments contribution Total

Hikfts  RERE  EAGH
e e BRRA BRzxH & f#a @it
Name of directors £33 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000

Té#x TR Té#x F#T Té#x F#T Té#x

Executive directors BITEE

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee L - 1,320 - - - 12 1,332
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing EEERA - 1,320 - - - 12 1,332
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, BRRELE

Robert - 1,320 - - - 12 1,332
Mr. Lam Shiu San Mk k4 - 634 - - - 12 646
Independent non- BUkRTES

executive directors
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, TERAE

Charles 180 - - - - - 180
Mr. Lai Ying Sum REHLE 120 - - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng King Hung PRERE 120 - - - - - 120

420 4,594 - - - 48 5,062
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mll% .

10 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10 EEREESEZHNE @

REMUNERAT'ON (continued)
Directors’ remuneration (continued)

The remuneration of directors for the period from 1 April 2007

to 30 June 2008 is set out below:

EEME@®

B-ZZLFMOMA-HE-_ZTTNFERX

A=tHILIHRzEZTMSHIINT :

Retirement
Discretionary ~ Share-based  Long service scheme
Fees Salary bonuses payments payments  contrioution Total
DEGE  RERE  RKEE
we e B4 Efzzd (b5 #3 it
Name of directors EEhA HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAT TEL TAT TEL TAT TEL
Executive directors HTEE
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee BT Rt - 3,240 - 3,493 14 15 6,762
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing EEELE - 3,240 - 3,493 14 15 6,762
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, BhaiE
Robert - 3,240 - 3,493 19 15 6,767
Mr. Lam Shiu San Mk 4 - 1,620 - 3,493 14 15 5,142
Independent non- BUkRTES
executive directors
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, TERAE
Charles 210 - - 240 - - 450
Ms. Ho Chui Yin, Liwina (a) IR E &t/ - - - - - - -
Mr. Lai Ying Sum BPEAEE 135 - - 240 - - 375
Mr.ChengKing Hung (o)~ BB 238 50 ) 128 - - 240 - - 368
473 11,340 - 14,692 61 60 26,626
Note: B &t
(@  Resigned on 16 May 2007 (@) RZET+FRATHEE
(o)  Appointed on 16 May 2007 ) RZTZELFRATBEZE
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10 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10
REMUNERAT'ON (continued)
Individuals with highest emoluments
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the five

EEREEREZNE @

REHENAL

hE&eHBENALE

REZ) M=

individuals of highest emoluments (including directors) are as BT
follows:
Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
BT LF
BE mH—H=Z=
—EEAE —EENFE
~A=+H ANA=1H
ILEE 1EHA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THT
Basic salaries, allowances and other EXFS  ZMREMEF
benefits 5,584 12,732
Long service payments R AR 14 3% = 61
Share-based payments AR fn B AR 2 S H 1,034 14,091
Retirement scheme contribution RARET 2 60 71
6,678 26,955

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
five individuals with highest emoluments as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 & Z —ZZNF A=+ HILEE

10 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10 EEREESEZHNE @
REMUNERAT'ON (continued)
Individuals with highest emoluments (continued) BREHFEANAL@

FRA AEELERSFENALERE
“HR(CEFEENF EOBEEF HEMEE
MREXZ2Fz2oMARE - FR - BAE
BRREBE(ZEZNF: —R)ENALZ

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three (2008: four) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining two (2008: one)

individuals during the year are as follows: B

Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
—ETLF
BE MA—H=Z=
—EEAE —ETNF
~HA=+H NA=1+H
ILEE 1EHAE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTH&ET FAT

Basic salaries, allowances and other HEA#HE ZBEHME
benefits 1,352 1,392
Retirement scheme contribution R KET 2 56 24 11
Share-based payments AR BER 2 T H 2,178 119
3,554 1,522

HhMH(CEENF: —R)ESFE
BALTEENF TR :

The emolument of the two (2008: one) individuals with the
highest emolument are fall within the following band:

Number of individual

AE
Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007
30 June 2009 to 30 June 2008
—ETLF
BE mA—B=Z=
—EBAE —ETNF
~A=+H ~NA=TH
IEEE 1F HA A

Emolument band
HK$Nil — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000

BN < &8
=95 7T — 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001 7T — 2,000,000 7T
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11

12

94

(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated (loss) attributable to equity holders of the
Company includes a loss of HK$413,219,000 (2008: loss of
HK$48,222,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

(LOSS) PER SHARE

(@) Basic (loss) per share
The calculation of basic (loss) per share for the year
ended 30 June 2009 is based on the loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company of HK$391,000,000
(2008: loss of HK$71,352,000) and on the weighted
average of 1,558,712,000 (2008: 1,135,329,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted (loss) per share
No diluted (loss) per share had been presented for the
year/period 2009 and 2008 as the Company’s share
options and the convertible notes are anti-dilutive.
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 B ZE—ZTZNFAAA=-THILEFE

(a)

mll% .

13 SEGMENT INFORMATION 13 DEEH
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s DEERNRAEBEBLNMERSFERY) -
business and geographical segments. Business segment EB o BEERBEBEAFEREFAKXTY
information is chosen as the primary reporting format because HRLEREAREE Y ARMBRESR
this is more relevant to the Group’s internal financial reporting. AfgiE o
Business segments (@) ¥EBoE
The Group comprises the following main business AEERTIETEEKDEAK
segments:
Intelligent system: the development and sale of intelligent BeRAG B xEETEARS
home electronic application system. FERIEE -
Hotel management: the provision for hotel management BIEERE  RHBEEERG -
services.
Intelligent system Hotel management Consolidated
R BEER ga
1/7/2008 1/4/2007 1/7/2008 1/4/2007 1/7/2008 1/4/2007
-30/6/2009  -30/6/2008  -30/6/2009  -30/6/2008  -30/6/2009  -30/6/2008
ZEENE —TTtF ZBENE _—TTtF ZBENFE C"—TTtHF
tB—-BEZ WNA-AEZ +tHA-BE @©MA-HE +HA-HE @WA-HE
“EEAE -ZT/\F ZBFAE Z-ZTT/\& ZEFAE =—ZTIT)\4%
~A=tB #~A=tH R®NA=+H ~A=+tH KRB=+H ~A=1H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT THT FHT THT FHT THT
Segment revenue: LR LION
Revenue from external REIBRP
customers ZWA 74,374 142,686 3,738 1,285 78,112 143,971
Segment results ARLE (179,170) (89  (113,316) (67,491)  (292,486) 67,777)
Unallocated income ROBEKA 566 -
Unallocated expenses APEBEX (6,419) (276)
Share of profits/(losses) of i ANE]
associates w2/ (F8) 401 (690)
Loss on disposal of HEMBLDA
subsidiaries & (84,375) -
Impairment loss on interest in 7 — B & A B %%
an associate ZREER (4,200) -
Impairment loss on goodwill 7 B B 18 (4,322) -
(98,349) (966)
Loss before income tax BATERATER (390,835) (68,743)
Income tax MER (165) (2,609)
Loss for the year/period FR/ERFDE
attrioutable to equity BAEE ARG
holders of the parent B8 (391,000) (71,352)
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13 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 13 HEEH @
(a) Business segments (continued) (a) ¥BoEw@

Intelligent system Hotel management Consolidated

LN BEEE &e
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEEAE —TT)\F ZBBNE —TT\F ZFFAE —ZTT)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT THEL FTET THET FET THET
Segment assets NEEE 77,439 304,039 4,900 128,071 82,339 432,110
Interests in associates REERF 2
g 42,908 2,353 - - 42,908 2,353
Unallocated assets APREE 18,900 347
Total assets BEE 144,147 434,810
Segment liabilities PHEER (22,862) (87,163) (1,539) (11,582) (24,401) (98,745)
Promissory note EREE (6,702) - - — (6,702) -
Convertible notes RRER (22,106) - - - (22,106) -
Unallocated liabilities ANEEEE (7,954) (344)
Total liabilities BEE (61,163) (99,089
Capital expenditure F/HRNEEL
incurred during the BARY
year/period 22,828 42,777 37,501 79,555 60,329 122,332
Depreciation and FEREH
amortisation 20,327 20,228 10,814 911 31,141 21,139
Inventories written off FEHA 319 - - - 319 -
Impairment of receivable  EUFUBRE 134,606 703 17,487 10,244 152,093 10,947
Loss on disposal of HEME - BER
property, plant and FEER
equipment 693 — 34,262 - 34,955 —
Intangible assets written off & E Mk - - 30,620 - 30,620 —
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 #Z —ZZNF A=+ HILFE

13 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Geographical segments
The Group’s business is mainly participated in Hong

Kong and the People’s Republic of China.

13 SEER@

Analyses of segment revenue, assets and capital

b) BWESE
AEBTEEEBRTEARKA
B4R & 275 o

DRBEA -BEREAFEI DTN

expenditure is as follows: T~
Hong Kong People’s Republic of China Consolidated
i PEARLR 58
1/7/2008 1/4/2007 1/7/2008 1/4/2007 1/7/2008 1/4/2007
—30/6/2009 —30/6/2008 —30/6/2009 — 30/6/2008 — 30/6/2009 — 30/6/2008
ZRRNE _-TTHE ZBRINE —TTLE ZBRTNE _TTLF
tf-HE @EA-AZ +A-HE WEA-AEZ +HA-HE MWA-HEZ
“REAE -TE\E ZBEAE CTI\E ZEBAE _EIT)F
~A=tB #A=tE #AZ+H H~A=tA #~A=tE ~A=TH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TET TiER TAT TiER THET
Segment revenue: el ONE
Revenue from external RENDER
customers WA 72,020 142,686 6,092 1,285 78,112 143,971
Other segment information: EpBEER:
Total assets BEE 142,513 248,856 1,634 185,954 144,147 434,810
Capital expenditure BRRX 22,825 1,367 37,504 120,965 60,329 122,332
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited E A= R 5 A 7

14 Y% -BRERRHE

The Group
350
Leasehold Furniture and Motor
Buildings improvements fixtures  Equipment vehicle Total
By HENERE HFHRRKE B ] RE L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TET FET FET TET FET TET
Cost: B
At 1 April 2007 RZEE+ENA-A 420 1424 548 11,422 - 13,814
Additions NE 5,373 358 63 15,196 1,037 22,027
Disposals LE (420) - - - - (420)
Exchange realignment 5 - - 2 22 - 24
At 30 June 2008 R-EENEXA=1H 5,373 1,782 613 26,640 1,037 35,445
Additions NE - 36,208 - 15,859 67 52,129
Disposals HE (6,379) (36,561) (188) (2,949 (894) (45,965)
Exchange realignment ek - - 1 5 - 6
At 30 June 2009 RZEFAERAZTA - 1,424 426 39,555 210 41,615
Accumulated depreciationand EFEREE:
impairments:
At 1 April 2007 R-E5+&EMA-A 10 451 285 3,540 - 4,286
Charge for the period HRxi 20 360 124 6,140 238 6,882
Written back on disposals HERBEM (18) - - - - (18
Exchange realignment R - - - 10 - 10
At 30 June 2008 R-EENEFXA=1H 12 811 409 9,690 238 11,160
Charge for the year FRXH 141 2,233 67 6,814 137 9,302
Written back on disposals HERED (153) (1,952) (74) (1,355) (274) (3,808)
Exchange realignment AR - - 2 3 - 5
At 30 June 2009 RZFERERASTH - 1,092 404 15,152 101 16,749
Net book value: REFE:
At 30 June 2009 RZEFAERAZTA - 332 2 24,403 109 24,866
At 30 June 2008 “EE\EXA=TH 5,361 971 204 16,950 799 24,285

The buildings were situated in the People’s Republic of China

ERBFURPEARKNE  UhH

under medium-term leases. HEFAEA-

Buildings with net book value of approximately HK$Nil (2008: FEEFENZEER(ZEZE N F:

HK$4,387,000) were pledged to a bank for a third party. 4,387,000/ 7T) 2 EF E 5t %’ = Tj R T
#RAT o
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15 PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent prepaid lease
payments on leasehold land and their net carrying value are
analysed as follows:

15 HEFHBEERIE
AEEzENEERAELRE LI E
FAEHE  MEREFEATHT

The Group
xE
2009 2008
—EEAE ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cost: B :
At beginning of year/period & 8] 34,545 5,770
Additions NE - 34,545
Disposals k= (34,545) (5,770)
At end of year/period FHR = 34,545
Release: #mo -
At beginning of year/period & E ) 226 9
Release for the year/period FHR D 879 232
Written back on disposals H = B (O (1,105) (15)
At end of year/period FHK — 226
Net book value: REFE:
At end of year/period E SHRR = 34,319

BNEERBEDINURFEARKM
Bz HEE -

The prepaid lease payments were situated in the People’s
Republic of China under medium term leases.

EFEEmEHNZET A (ZFEZ )\ F:
12,008,000 7T) 2 BN HERIEE R F
—HEBFRIT

Prepaid lease payments with net book value of approximately
HK$NIl (2008: HK$12,008,000) were pledged to a bank for a
third party.
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16 H|EEE

The Group
AEHE
Patents and Computer
trademarks software Total
B REE E I st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Fi#&T F#EIT FH#ET
Cost: o
At 1 April 2007 RZEELEFMNA—H 4,300 40,035 44,335
Additions RE — 65,760 65,760
At 30 June 2008 RZEENFANA=Z+H 4,300 105,795 110,095
Additions RE — 8,200 8,200
Written-offs T AR - (39,090 (39,090)
At 30 June 2009 R-ZBEAERA=+H 4,300 74,905 79,205
Accumulated amortisation: Bt sy
At 1 April 2007 R-ZEZLFWMA—H 693 16,022 16,715
Charge for the period HA X H 860 13,165 14,025
At 30 June 2008 RZZEZENFANA=1+H 1,553 29,187 30,740
Charge for the year FRZH 287 20,583 20,870
Written back on disposals & B 3 (O] — (8,470) (8,470)
At 30 June 2009 R-ZEEAERA=+H 1,840 41,300 43,140
Net book value: BRTEEE :
At 30 June 2009 R-EZEAERA=+H 2,460 33,605 36,065
At 30 June 2008 R-ZEZENFERNA=1H 2,747 76,608 79,355
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mll% .

17 GOODWILL meE
The Group
&
2009 2008
—EEAE ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Cost: B :
At beginning of year/period F /) 60,643 —
Acquisition of a subsidiary W BE BT B A &) 4,322 60,643
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries & BB R B R (60,643) —
At end of year/period F HR 4,322 60,643
Impairment: BiE
At beginning of year/period F B = -
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEX 4,322 -
At end of year/period F R 4,322 -
Carrying amounts: REE = 60,643

Goodwill arising during the year was resulted from the
acquisition of the entire issued capital of Dragon Emperor
International Limited. The assets of Dragon Emperor
International Limited are primarily available-for-sale investment
which was already measured at its fair value at year end date.
Impairment loss was recognised by reference to the
recoverable amount of the available-for-sale investment which
is its fair value less costs to sell. The fair value is determined
using a discounted cash flow analysis.

In previous period, the entire amount of goodwill was allocated
to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) Autoscale Resources
Limited for impairment tests purposes. The recoverable amount
of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 12% per annum. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady 8% per
annum growth rate.

RAFREANFEE 2B ERE KE
Dragon Emperor International Limited 2 2
& © % 7 & 7 - Dragon Emperor
International Limited 2 & & £ B & Al {1
ERE WERFERUQATEFE R
BEEBERZ2EZNHLEREZATKE
BUAEATEREHEXN ) BER -
NEBETDUBRBERAONERETE °

FE—HE EmEeEH2BOE
IReELEBEUN(RESE S ENMD
Autoscale Resources Limited 1 (8 8 & °
B SEABEUZAIKE S BRIEFS
BEENERET HWEAEDREE
EERATHHEMLEZRBERSSF
12%BIBERFERARESRIELTER - BB R
FHHMEAFERE TS FeR R EIR
i 0
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18 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

18 MMBASIZHERS

The Company
EAT

2009 2008
—BEAE —ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT FiB T
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETRRG IR 5,637 66,410
Less: Impairment loss B OREE R = (288)
5,637 66,122

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the

TRERRIEREAREXRE AE
KEEZHBRRZHE -

Group.
Percentage of equity
RET S
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ effective Held by the Held by Particulars of issued/ Principal activity and
Name of Company establishment interest Company subsidiary registered capital place of operation
B30 AEEZ HAATF B EAT
ATEHE P33 B ER#ERD ®E BE BB/ RERAHE EEEXBREEHY
Shimmer Scene Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 100% — 1share of US$1 each Trademark and patent
(“BVI") holding in Hong Kong
HERAEE 1REBRAEIETZRG REFFEEERER
Cyberliving (Hong Kong) Co Limited ~ Hong Kong 100% - 100% 4 shares of HK$1 each Leasing of office premises in
Hong Kong
RRHE (FE)ERAR B IRERAEBET R REBEERRENE
Cyberworks Technology Limited Hong Kong 100% - 100% 4 shares of HK$1 each Provision of systems design
and integration services in
Hong Kong
RBREBEREERDA B IRERAEBET R REBRBERRZR
BaR%
&I 8 XA (RN BB AR People’s Republic of 100% - 100% Registered capital of Development, production
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18

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

|ﬂﬂ% .

18 MHEBAT ZH#E @

Percentage of equity
RES S
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ effective Held by the Held by Particulars of issued/ Principal activity and
Name of Company establishment interest Company subsidiary registered capital place of operation
ML AEEZ HAAT B EAT
AT B 3L ERER RE #E EBT/RERAHE EEEXBREEHY
Inno Hotel Investment & BVI 100% - 100% 100 shares of US$1 each Investment holding
Management Holdings Limited ~ EBRE X & 100 FRRAEEIET REER
2Bt
Uni-World Hong Kong Group Hong Kong 100% - 100% 100 shares of HK$1 each Provision of hotel
Limited management services in
the PRC
ik 100BR G R EE1E T R ER AR R B R
2Bt
Inno Gold Mining Limited BVI 100% 100% — 1 share of US$1 each Investment holding
HERAHE IREREEIET 2R REEK
Dragon Emperor International BVI 100% - 100% 10 shares of US$1 each Investment holding
Limited KBRS 10RBREEIET REER
2Bt
Shiny Step Investments Limited BVI 100% 100% — 1 share of US$1 each Investment holding
AERAHE RERAEIETZRG RERR
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19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19 REEATZHER
The Group
xE
2009 2008
—ETAE —TT)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FER FAET
Share of net assets of associates: B E AR EEFE:
— Balance at beginning of year/period — & S 2,353 4,407
— Addition of an associate — R E N T 44,354 —
— Disposal of an associate — HEBENT - (1,363)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates FE (R B2 N AR }ﬁj S (E8)
— Share of profits/(losses) before tax — FE(ERFRER S (E1E) 401 (829)
— Share of tax expenses — EERIBEAX = 138
Less: Impairment loss BB E (4,200) —
At end of year/period F /B 42,908 2,353
Details of the Group’s interests in associates are as follows: REBRBE AR 2 EAFAFBHRHIINT
Percentage of equity
REE L
Form of Group’s
Name of business Place of effective Held by the Held by Particulars of Principal activity and
Company structure incorporation  interest Company subsidiary issued capital place of operation
ES RS A&EEZz ®BFAF miE 28T ETEEBR
ATEH ER AWM BERED BE AFIRE RAHE G2
Grace Pond Incorporated  Hong Kong 49% - 49% 1,000 shares of Provision of software application
Limited* HK$1 each consultancy services in Hong
Kong
Ak 3z % 1,0008% & % REBRUTHERLZARS
EEETZ RS
General Win Incorporated  Hong Kong 49% — 49% 1,000 shares of HK$1 Provision of software application
Limited* each consultancy services in Hong
Kong
A Ak a2 ik 1,000 BREEIET AEBREDHERZARE
2Bt
Great China Media  Incorporated ~ BVI 23% - 23% 1,034 shares of US$1 Provision of advertising related
Holdings each consulting services
Limited* B 97 VA EEBREXES 1,0348 G R E REREEBERRS
1ETZ R’
. Companies not audited by PCP CPA Limited * FZE L AR EEE K EE A FE AT
BR R A]F %
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19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19 MREEASTIZERE @)
Summary financial information on associates: BB NB ZEHEER L E -
The Group
AEE
2009 2008
—ETAE —TENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Assets BE 25,184 16,586
Liabilities a8f&E 12,379 33,652
Revenues A 7,878 2,929
Profit/(loss) after tax B R (BE) 2,828 (19,855)
20 INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 20 NHEFEEFIERZ#EE
ENTITY
The Group
.3 ]
2009 2008
—EEAE —TE)N\FE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET

Share of net assets of a
jointly controlled entity

EEARZES EEEEFE

Note: The Group’s share of losses exceeds the carrying amounts of
the jointly controlled entity, the carrying amount is reduced to nil.

Details of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity are as

B A ERE 2 BERBZ AR E
B EEE AERERHMAET -

AEBRAKRZEHNER ZEDFBEHD

follows: /N
Percentage of equity
BHEEN
Form of Group’s
business Place of effective  Held by the Held by Particulars of  Principal activity and
Name of Company structure incorporation interest Company subsidiary issued capital place of operation
EBEE FREZ mAAT BHMEBEAT EBT TEEBR
AEEH B o 1 AR 3L 30 B BRED o] B RAHE mEhE
Parentech China Limited Incorporated  Hong Kong 50% - 50% 2 shares of Distribution of the
HK$1 each Nature’s Cradle
Products in the PRC
FEREERERAR  HBKL BN REREE AREDH
18T 2Bk Nature’s CradleE m
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20

21

106

INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 20 REFEEWNEBZERS@
ENTITY (continued)
Summary financial information on the jointly controlled entity HAEEEREHE CHRAEHNEE 2
related to the Group’s interests: HERBE
The Group
FEHE
2009 2008
—EEAE —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FB T
Current liabilities B BB 94 93
Income A = -
Expenses 3 (1) (1)
Loss for the year/period FHANEER (1) (1)
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT 21 THHEEZEE
The Group
N
2009 2008
—EEAE —EETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHETT F75 7T
Unlisted securities: ELFMES:
— Equity securities — RAEH 18,900 —
Analysed for reporting purpose as: MEMB 20
Current assets MENVEE = -
Non-current assets EREE E 18,900 —
18,900 —

The Group holds 15.4% (2008: HK$NIl) of the ordinary share
capital of Gaofeng Holding Co. Limited, a company interested
in the entire equity interest in Jiu Jiang Gaofeng Mining
Company Limited (“Jiu Jiang Gaofeng”). Jiu Jiang Gaofeng is a
limited liability company established in the PRC. The scope of
business of Jiu Jiang Gaofeng is sale and purchase of dolomite,
investment, consultation and mining engineering technical
consultation.

The unlisted equity securities are measured at fair value. Fair
value is estimated using a discounted cash flow model, which
includes some assumptions that are not supportable by
observable market prices or rates. In determining the fair value,
a risk adjusted discount factor of 14.02% (2008: HK$NIl) is
used.
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22 LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE/AMOUNTS DUE 22 [M—EBEATIER El E

FROM/TO SUBSIDIARIES/AMOUNTS DUE TO HHEBATIRIE EAEERE
DIRECTORS
(a) Loans to an associate are unsecured and interest bearing (@ M—EBREIFNERESEERR ?E
at rate of 2-5% per annum. The loans are repayable as F F| RozEbE ‘+ B ZEEREAR
follows: T EffE R
The Group and the Company
EEEREAT
2009 2008
—EFAE —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THT
Within one year —F R — 6,440
After one year —F 1% — 6,273
- 12,713
(b) Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) FEWHEATRIE
The Company
¥ /A
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT TH& T
Amounts due from subsidiaries A ENGIE ] 446,392 292,668
Less: Impairment loss R EEE (357,351) (43,570)
89,041 249,098
Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest ERHBARRBAEERR &8
free and repayable on demand. NAREENRER -
(¢) Amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free (c) ENHWBARZEAEEKR &8
and repayable on demand. REREREER-
(d) Amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest free (d ERNEERELREER 2ERKE
and repayable on demand. TEERKEERE -
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23 TRADING SECURITIES 23 X5EH
The Group and the Company
EEEREAT
2009 2008
—EEAE ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET TAT
Pledged trading securities BEHARSESGEME)
(at market value)
Listed equity securities R E S
— in Hong Kong — REE - 1,024
24 INVENTORIES 24 B8
The Group
xE
2009 2008
—BBAE —TIN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FAT
Finished goods Bk T 709 200
Work in progress H AR 345 412
Raw materials E M & 395 276
Spares parts and consumables HRm&EED = 287
1,449 1,175
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an BRAABRIZ2EESES WM :
expenses are as follows:
The Group
&
2009 2008
—EEAE —EENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Carrying amount of inventories sold EXEFEER®EE 67,046 94,752
Written off of inventories 7 E WU 319 —
67,365 94,752
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25 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 25 FEUTRRFR
The Group
&
2009 2008
—EEBAE —ETENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFi#ET FB T
Trade debtors 25 EMIRR 125,605 65,386
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts o RER B R (122,219) (113)
3,386 65,273
Amounts due from customers EWEF A - 19,675
Receivable from a jointly controlled entity — EU — =K R 1% 4 & 88 FUIE 95 95
Receivable from an associate JEU — KEEZ QR RIE 652 119
4,133 85,162

(@) Ageing analysis

Included in accounts receivables are trade debtors (net
of allowance for doubtful debts) with the following ageing

(a) FRR&SSH

JE U BR AR B 1R 5 R MR AR (A 40
BREREE) RNEEBRZREDN

analysis as of the balance sheet date: RN
The Group
x&EE

2009 2008
—EEAE —ETNF
HK$°000 HK$’000
TER T T
Current Bl HA 539 45,896
Less than 1 month past due BETE—@A 79 7,522
1 to 3 months past due BH—z==A - 8,112
Over 3 months past due 70 HA R 48 = & A 2,768 3,743
2,847 19,377
3,386 65,273

Trade debtors are due within 120 days from the date by
billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set

out in note 41(d).

BHRWERBEER

H 8 #120H

NEBH - AKEEERRZE—HF

B H K FE41(d) ©
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25 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (continued) 25 FEWERF @)
(b) Impairment of trade debtors (b) ESFEWERFRE
At 30 June 2009, the Group’s trade debtors of R-ZZEZAEXNA=+H X&H
HK$122,219,000 (2008: HK$113,000) was individually 7 %0122,219,0008 T (Z T\ 5 :
determined to be impaired. The individually impaired 113,000/ 7T) 2 B 2 FE W R 3 2 &
receivables related to customers that were in financial B E F ARAE - &8 R RE 2 B WK
difficulties and management assessed that the EHEMEHVBRRE2TEFEER M
receivables were not expected to be recovered. The EIEE G TEAS IR E E R
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. H-ASBUERLSERFTEE
A o
(c) Trade debtors that are not impaired (c) LEBEZESEWKRR
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired A 4 e BR TR ORI (B < E W IE B &%
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was AR WERRLHR I BEFER -
no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to AR ER A WK EEN A E
a number of independent customers that have a good BARNEH I ZZBIEEH -
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, BEBALR BEEERAE AR
management believes that no impairment allowance is FEEERUEERESY BEBHELS
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not BT ARER B E - B AR
been a significant change in credit quality and the WEERELRERE NEBW
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group EBRLEEABEBEEMNERR -
does not hold any collateral over these balances.
(d) Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts (d BSEKERRRRBE2SE
for trade debtors
The Group
AEHE
2009 2008
—EBEAE —ZTZN\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAE T
At beginning of year/period FH 4 5 113 320
Impairment losses recognised BHERZBERE 122,219 113
Trade debtor written off B 5 FE W AR S8 (113) (320)
At end of year/period F R b 122,219 113
(e) Pledge of trade debtors (e) ESREUIRMZIKE

110

During the year, the Group has pledged its trade debtors
amounting to HK$9,348,530 to a third party to secure
the due and punctual payment of all and any sums which
are or at any time become payable by the Company
under a promissory note dated 15 May 2009 issued by
the Company in the principal amount at HK$7,820,000.
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 & Z —ZZNF A=+ HILEE

26 PLEDGED DEPOSITS 26 CIEEHFER

27

The Group The Company
& AAT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EBTAE —"TT)N\F ZBERE =—ZTITN\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FAT FTER FAT
Bank deposits EREIRIRTT
pledged against HREZRIT

banking facilities T 10,000 13,000 10,000 10,000

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

27 BMERBL%EY

The Group The Company
x&E EAT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAE —ZEENF —EBEAE —ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#&xT FAT T#&xT FAT
Cash at bank and in RITHEHB K
hand H 5 735 37,305 81 158
Cash and cash IREEBRERZ
equivalents in the He MReE
balance sheet B 735 37,305 81 158
Bank overdrafts RITEZ (M 7728)
(note 28) (1,957) (4,837) - -
Cash and cash FIREERESRE
equivalents in the xBHe kB2
consolidated cash ZEBEY
flow statement (1,222) 32,468 81 158
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=_—ZTZTNF A=+ HIEFE

28 BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS 28 HRITERREX
Bank loans and overdrafts were repayable as follows: RITERERBIZ CEEBROT
The Group The Company
XEE AAT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EFThE " TZN\F ZBERE —"ZZ)N\HF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
FH#ET FA&T FH#ET FA& T
Non-current JEBNEA
Bank loans RITER - — - —
Current BN EA
Bank overdrafts IRITIBX (W azo7)
(note 27) 1,957 4,837 - -
Bank loans RITE K 10,000 10,000 = —
11,957 14,837 - —
Total B\ 11,957 14,837 - —
The Group The Company
XEEH AAT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—BTAE TN NFE ZBBAE —ZZT)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TBxT FHET TBT
Secured [SE g
Bank overdrafts RITEX 1,957 4,837 - -
Bank loans RITE K 10,000 10,000 - —
11,957 14,837 - —
The bank overdrafts facilities and the bank loans are secured RZEZNEANA=1TH RITEXHE
by the Group’s time deposits of HK$10,000,000 (2008: FB 58 K SR 1T B FJ5 BA K £ [E110,000,00074
HK$13,000,000) as at 30 June 2009. T (ZZZF )\ : 13,000,000 7T) Z & HA

TR fEHE A

The directors, Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Yao Wing, EEEMR LT BEHELELRERE
Robert and Mr. Wong Kwok Sing have provided personall HEERAEB LR ARRER ZETE
guarantee for bank loan and overdraft facilities to the extent of B S AR R 1 B #112,000,0000%8 7T
HK$12,000,000 (2008: HK$15,000,000) granted to the Group (ZZZ A\ : 15,000,0007% 7T) 2 18 A #&
and the Company. The facilities were utilised to the extent ReZEHBABDEMA 711,957,000 7T
HK$11,957,000 (2008: HK$14,837,000). (ZZFZ )\ : 14,837,000 70 ) °
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28 BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS (continued) 28 HRITERREZ @

The maturity of borrowings is as follows: EEZRHBENT

Bank loans and overdrafts

RITERRIER
The Group The Company
& EAT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—BBAE —TT)N\F ZBBRE =—ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAET TER FAET
Within 1 year R—FR 11,957 14,837 - —
Between 1 and 2 years —$ZEM4F — — — —
Between 2 and 5 years MFEZERF — — — —
Wholly repayable within = 74 1 F RZEEE &
5 years 11,957 14,837 - —
Over 5 years 838 T F - — - —
The effective interest rates were as follows: BEEMEAT
Period from
Year Ended 1 April 2007 to
30 June 2009 30 June 2008
B B-_ZTZTt#F
—ETAE MA—RAZE
~BA=+H ZETNF
IEEE A=+ HEH
HK$’000 HK$ 000
TER FAT
Bank overdrafts RITEX 5.8% 7.8%
Bank loans RITER 3.4% 7.1%
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of borrowings EEZERE BECEEHEREATFEMR
approximate their fair values. Ao
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in BEZE®EETUBITIE -

Hong Kong dollars.
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=_—ZTZTNF A=+ HIEFE

29 TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUED EXPENSES

20 BHEMRMR  BiEAREM

AND OTHER PAYABLES FE {7 SR I8
The Group The Company
XEE AAT

2009 2008 2009 2008

“EBEAE _—_ZTZN\F “BEAE _—_ZTZNFE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHER TAT FHER TAT

Trade payables B S EMNIRER 4,323 5,842 - —
Amount due to a JES — B E R A

related company I - 286 — —

Accrued expenses EETE A REAM
and other payables FE A 5,981 14,776 2,827 2,188
10,304 20,904 2,827 2,188
30 PROMISSORY NOTE 30 ERMTER
The Group and The Company
AEEREAT]

2009 2008

—EBBAE —TTENE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHERT T

Issued during the year/period F RN T 6,554 -

Interest charged i YR 2 ) 8 148 —

Balance at the end of the year/period &R K 6,702 —

Promissory note is secured by certain Group’s trade
receivables and it is non-interest bearing. The promissory note
will mature on 15 May 2010.

The fair value of the note is calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows at the rate of 19.32% per annum.
The directors considered that the carrying amount of the
promissory note approximates to its fair value.
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 B ZE—_ZTZNFAA=-THILEFE

31

32

mll% .

RETIREMENT BENEFITS 31 BKER
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the REERBRBESBBRE T AESTEED
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident BEEEEEEEMNERZEEHITA
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the HlEREEE([BERETE]) -8
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a EARBYERATREZIEEHRNIE
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by Ketd HEERAEBREE HEA -
independent trustees with their assets held separately from KEBFE2BA 7R HEAES((RES])
those of the Group. The Group participates in a Mandatory HBEYRAABRBESETLTAETIE - RiER
Provident Fund (“MPF”), managed by independently approved EeitE ExRERESFERES
MPF trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its BREWA %R BEKA LR A
employees are each required to make contributions to the H20,000 7T « 5T &l 2 R — LK EH BN &7
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a BEFTH -
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions to
the scheme vest immediately.
LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 32 REAIRFBHR
The Group
AEE
2009 2008
—ETAE ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$000
THET FAT
At the beginning of year/period F Y 8 233 150
Addition during the year/period FHIR A = 83
At the end of year/period FHR B 233 233

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, an entity is
required to make long service payments to its employees upon
the termination of their employment or retirement when the
employee fulfils certain conditions and the termination meets
the required circumstances. However, where an employment is
simultaneously entitled to a long service payment and to a
retirement scheme payment, the amount of the long service
payment may be reduced by certain benefits arising from the
retirement scheme.

REEZERERS NEBEKSE TIH
HREBEBTAMFBRLT  ARAR
EREBBB IR KRR R EFERRBR
B AW WEERKZARPRE
R BB R E 8IS 3R B R B AR 7% A 3%
ZEBGRBRRFEEE ZE TRANE
R ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=_—ZTZTNF A=+ HIEFE

33 CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION

33 AHIRIBEHIE

The Group
AEE
2009 2008
—BEhE —ZTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT T T
(@) Current taxation in the (a) EHEEEBBRZE
consolidated balance sheet BifIEE :
represents:
Provisional profits tax paid B EE E SR - 317
(b) Deferred tax liabilities recognised: (b) BHEDBZEEHIEERE:
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in RABRE ERGAEEABEER
the consolidated balance sheet and the movements DYELERIBAGB AR D RE
during the year/period are as follows: ER N
Accelerated
depreciation
allowances
DniEITEHE B
HK$°000
T#ER
Deferred tax liabilities arising from: BERIBEAGESER
At 1 April 2007 RZZEZELFMHA—H 4,976
Charged to consolidated income REEE Bmx AR
statement (note 9) (H77#9) 2,813
At 30 June 2008 RZZEZNFRA=1+H 7,789
Charged to consolidated income RizaBamRANNR
statement (note 9) (K1 7£9) 165
At 30 June 2009 RZZEZERFANA=TH 7,954

The Group has not recognised net deferred tax assets in
respect of tax losses of HK$51,363,000 (2008:
HK$3,760,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
stream. The tax losses do not expire under current tax

legislation.
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34

CONVERTIBLE NOTES
HK$43,384,000 Convertible Note due 2011

On 28 February 2009, the Company issued 2-year
HK$43,384,000 unsecured and non interest-bearing
convertible note. The holders of convertible note have the
option to convert the note into ordinary shares of the Company
of HK$0.02 each at a conversion price of HK$0.0638, subject
to adjustments in accordance with the instrument constituting
the convertible note, at any time from the issue date, 28
February 2009, up to and excluding the fifth business day
immediately before the maturity date, 28 February 2011. Unless
previously redeemed and cancelled, the note will be redeemed
at par on the maturity date.

The convertible note was split between liability and equity
components of approximately HK$30,256,000 and
HK$13,128,000 respectively upon initial recognition by
recognising the liability component at fair value and attributing
the residual amount as the equity component.

The interest charged for the year is calculated using the
effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate
of 19.75% to the liability component.

HK$16,680,000 Convertible Notes due 2010

On 15 May 2009, the Company issued 1-year HK$16,680,000
unsecured and non interest-bearing convertible notes. The
holders of convertible notes have the option to convert the
notes into ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.02 each at
a conversion price of HK$0.06, subject to adjustments in
accordance with the instrument constituting the convertible
notes, at any time from the issue date, 15 May 2009, up to and
excluding the fifth business day immediately before the maturity
date, 15 May 2010. Unless previously redeemed and cancelled,
the notes will be redeemed at par on the maturity date.

The convertible notes were split between liability and equity
components of approximately HK$14,360,000 and
HK$2,320,000 respectively upon initial recognition by
recognising the liability component at fair value and attributing
the residual amount as the equity component.

34

mll% .

o] R iR iR

—F ——F 34 243,384,000 T o]
BRER
R-ZZEZTAFEF_A=_+/N\B ' xQa %
1718 1843,384,000/8 JT 2 M F Hi £ 35 3 &
REZABRBREE - ZUBEREZEE
AFBEERBETEN_ZZEAFE - A
—t+tN\NHZIBHHMNZ-ZZE——F A
Z+NBZBIEEZ R - 1£0.0638% T
2R (B KA N RS (E0.028 T Z
TR RRERIEER AT RERERZ
NEGEFELAZR - RIEDHRBEER
i DRZSEZEEBEREHAKHE
E{EE

A] # BR SR 4R 0 ) IR BE BB B B 7%

LA &

=l=]
7 #930,256,000%8 T & fx AN F 9 4
13,128,000/8 7T * & @ & A $1§E&% B1&E

MW RKERT 2 2RI BRALD

FAKEZ FE Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ,\ q—\ﬂ-.-/fihg
|§%’\ %‘J};\1975J_ﬁ = u%)\g ij °

—T—F F 3 H 216,680,000/ T T
BRER

RZZETZNFRA+TRB  KRFIET
{8 1516,680,000/ 70 2 — FHIEE A K &
BrAMRER ZUBRREEREZER
ANTTBERERETHB ST AER A
+HEBZRFHBN-_ZE—ZFRATEH
HZRIREZ%¥H  1%0.06755 T 2 I E
HRAN A B SR E(E0.028 T 2 L im Ak
BREAIRER T IRBREE 2 SUEKR
EHAE - BRIFENBEBR REHE &
BZEEZBENHARKERERLD

ABBREBRTAERBEHE Y BEED
) i@1436oooo,a TR R AKEFE DL
2320000/%75 BBEAFERERER

DIWHEHRT 2B ABRRTD D
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34 CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

HK$16,680,000 Convertible Notes due 2010 (continued) -

The interest charged for the year is calculated using the
effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate

of 16.15% to the liability component.

The movement of the liability components of the convertible

notes for the year is set out below:

34 TR ELE @
RER E

BRAIE16.152F & -

Fan

iWHﬁZHXZﬂE\JﬂEﬁHA

REEZABRBEERBERERTD

T £ T #j 2 $16,680,0007T]

The Group and the Company

EEEREFAT
2009 2008
—EBEAE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Liability component at the beginning of the R E /Bi¥lz AEZH
year/period - 6,110
Issue of convertible notes BT AR E B 44,616 —
Conversion to ordinary shares iz Emg (24,278) (6,126)
Interest charged Fir R 2 71 & 1,768 169
Interest paid EENEUESS = (153)
Liability component at the end of RE/ Rz BEHD
the year/period 22,106 -
Less: Amount due within one year shown & : — & A Z| EAE 8 2 1A
under current liabilities PR EE) (1,603) -
Amount due after one year —FRIBEEZREA 20,503 —
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35 SHARE CAPITAL 35 kK
2009 2008
—ETAE ZEENF
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
lidn =] mE f& 1 21 B H1E
’000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
Ti% TFHEIT T I FTHT
Authorised: SETE
Ordinary shares of [ T {80.02
HK$0.02 each 7B TTH) E R AR
Beginning and RE /B R
end of the F/ER
year/period 5,000,000 100,000 5,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: B 21T RER :
Ordinary shares of % H {80.02
HK$0.02 each ETHERK
Beginning of the RE /B &
year/period F S HR 1,227,187 24,544 430,075 8,602
Shares issued BIRETEIE
under share T2 BT
option scheme % 17
(note a) (Kt ita) 132,616 2,652 98,227 1,964
Placement of fid & & 9
shares (note b) (Krztb) 290,704 5,814 635,885 12,718
Conversion of Riaal e
convertible B (M ate)
notes (note c) 493,671 9,874 63,000 1,260
End of year/period & HR 2,144,178 42,884 1,227,187 24,544

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All the ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to Company’s residual assets.

Note:

(@) During the year, options were exercised to subscribe for
132,616,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a consideration
of HK$17,013,000 of which HK$2,652,000 was credited to
share capital and the balance of HK$14,361,000 was credited
to the share premium account. HK$15,055,000 has been
transferred from the share option reserve to the share premium

account.

EBEFEABRUBRAREIRMKE -
TEERARBNEZLZFEER R
REE -MAEBRZFAERSEN AI5
ERRBNRGBEE -

Wiz

@ FA-EREETE - AR{E17,013,000
7 70 R 85132,616,0000% AN A 7] & @ A%
& 712,652,000/ 7T &t A IR & 8
14,361,000 7T A 5+ A B& 19 & 8 Bk -
15,055,000 TE BREREREER 2
AR 5 (B AR o

Annual Report 08/09 ¢ 119



L R X

Notes to the Financial Statements

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited [E &l B R 2 7

RIS R R B R

For the year ended 30 June 2009 #HZ_—_ZZ N4/~ A

=+HIFE

35 SHARE CAP'TAL (continued)

120

)

Note: (continued)

On 29 August 2008, the Company placed and issued
107,704,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.37 each at cash
consideration of HK$39,851,000 of the Company. The excess
of the aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of
shares of HK$2,154,000 was credited to the share premium
account of the Company.

On 28 November 2008, the Company placed and issued
135,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.087 each at cash
consideration of HK$11,745,000 of the Company. The excess
of the aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of
shares of HK$2,700,000 was credited to the share premium
account of the Company.

On 23 January 2009, the Company placed and issued
48,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.087 each at cash
consideration of HK$4,176,000 of the Company. The excess of
the aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of
shares of HK$960,000 was credited to the share premium
account of the Company.

On 14 March 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert the whole part of the principal
amount into the 30,564,000 ordinary shares of the Company.
The excess of the aggregate cash consideration over the
nominal value of shares of HK$611,000 was credited to the
share premium account of the Company.

On 16 March 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert part of the principal amount into the
30,564,000 ordinary shares of the Company. The excess of the
aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of shares
of HK$611,000 was credited to the share premium account of
the Company.

On 18 May 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert the part of the principal amount into
the 150,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company. The excess
of the aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of
shares of HK$3,000,000 was credited to the share premium
account of the Company.
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35 SHARE CAplTAL (continued)

Note: (continued)

(©

(continued)

On 25 May 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert the whole part of the principal
amount into the 25,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.
The excess of the aggregate cash consideration over the
nominal value of shares of HK$500,000 was credited to the
share premium account of the Company.

On 26 May 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert part of the principal amount into the
25,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company. The excess of the
aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of shares
of HK$500,000 was credited to the share premium account of
the Company.

On 11 June 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert the whole part of the principal
amount into the 44,213,000 ordinary shares of the Company.
The excess of the aggregate cash consideration over the
nominal value of shares of HK$885,000 was credited to the
share premium account of the Company.

On 15 June 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert the whole part of the principal
amount into the 50,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.
The excess of the aggregate cash consideration over the
nominal value of shares of HK$1,000,000 was credited to the
share premium account of the Company.

On the same date, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert part of the principal amount into the
28,330,000 ordinary shares of the Company. The excess of the
aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of shares
of HK$567,000 was credited to the share premium account of
the Company.

On 25 June 2009, a convertible note holder has exercised
conversion right to convert the whole part of the principal
amount into the 110,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.
The excess of the aggregate cash consideration over the
nominal value of shares of HK$2,200,000 was credited to the
share premium account of the Company.

“ @ e

35 & @

Hrat -

©)]

(%)

()
RZZZNFRAZTHB  —RA#HR
REBFEATELRE  B2IH04AE
%8 1, 12 /525,000,0000% AN 2 &) 5@ e
mﬁiﬁ1tﬁk1E@2§$mqmo
BILEFFAERR

/\—1

77/ 18

RZZEZNFRAZFARB —&A#
BEERBEATELLRE BB AE

8 3, # 525,000,0000% AN A &) X 3@ A% o
mﬁiﬁ1tﬁk1E@2§ﬁmqmo
BILETARRRIKRG R ER

RZFZAEFAA+T—H —2AHBEK
REFAANTELRE  S2HELEHE
5 7544,213,0008% 78 A 7] & B AL - 42

ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ@i%%%wm%
LB ARR RN G EER -

RZZZNFAATER —&ABK
EBEREATELLRE B2HBLeE
i, #2 A50,000,0000% A& 2~ 7] E iE A - 48
ReRE ttljﬂﬂ EfﬁZ%%’m ,000,000
BILEFFAERR

/\—1
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FE S—28RBREEFEEATER
B B39 KN A % 528,330,000
BARAARIEBR RESREBLRMD
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173 /ﬁﬁ1 8% o

RZFBZAFAA-ZTHRA —HAHK
BREEREATELLEE 2842
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35 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 35 BAEa
Note: (continued) Kt - (88)
(d) Al new ordinary shares issued during the year rank pari passu in ) REEAZHEHNEBERARSHTEAZEAR
all respects with the existing shares. EEX-FIK
(e)  Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at balance ) REEARINBRRITHEEREZFH -
sheet date.
2009 2008
Exercise period Exercise price Number Number
—EEAF —TT)N\F
fT{EH] TEE B A
5Jduly2002to 4 July 2012 —EE_F+HAHHEHZE
—E-—_F+AMWEH HK$0.287% 7T 4,800,000 4,800,000
6 January 2004 to —EEME-ARBE
5 January 2014 —E—mF—AAA HK$0.227% 7T 10,500 10,500
20 September 2005 to —EERFNA=-FTHE
19 September 2015 —E—RHFHAATNH HK$0.1147%& 7T 1,000,000 1,000,000
23 August 2007 to —_EFE++FNAZ+=BZ
22 August 2017 —E—+tFENA=-+=H HK$0.637% 7T 69,780,000 69,780,000
9 September 2008 —EFENFHALANEE
to 8 September 2018 —E-NFHLANR HKS$0.1747% JT 30,849,365 —
11 September 2008 to ZEENFLA+—RHE
10 September 2018 —E-NFENLATH HK$0.1957% 7T 22,000,000 —
24 November 2008 to —EEZNFE+—AZ+WMWBEZE
23 November 2018 —E-N\FE+—HA=Z+=H HK$0.077% 7T 13,900,000 —
16 December 2008 to —EENF+=ZA+BZE
15 December 2018 —E-N\FE+-A+HAB HK$0.07627% It 26,000,000 —
17 February 2009 to —EZAF_A+tHZE
16 February 2019 —E—-NAF-ZAH+/H HK$0.0997% JT. 12,000,000 —
29 May 2009 to —EENFRA=-t+NABEZE
28 May 2019 —ZEZ—hAFRA-1+NH HK$0.0887% 7T 12,000,000 —
192,339,865 75,590,500
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary EHBRERTREEABARBEARRA
share in the Company. Further details of these options are set —REBR - ZEERECE—FTER
out in note 36 to the financial statements. N BRI EES6 -
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36 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 36 MERRHESTEl

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 July 2002
whereby any employees (whether or not full-time or part-time)
and any consultant or adviser who, at the sole discretion of the
board, subject to the terms of the share option scheme,
contributed to the Group, may be granted options to subscribe
for shares in the Company.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the schemes must not exceed 10% of
the shares in issue.

(i) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
Pursuant to the Pre-IPO option scheme adopted by the
Company on 5 July 2002 (the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”), the principal terms of which were set out in
the Prospectus, options were granted to the grantees to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

The following share options with an exercise period from
5 July 2002 to 4 July 2012 were outstanding under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year:

ARAR _ZET_FLtARAHEKEM—A
BRESE Bt EARE(TwER
k3R B Mo AE f] 7 79 R T oK P (FE P AR
BABZBEAT HEFEZRBER
RYASEARERE) DA ERERE
ARBEARRBR

RBZEFE AR D ZBREMS X
BOEBE REITFEBEHTRN
10% -

() BEXRAMERABRES
REARIANR_-_ZT_FLAREA
R & RN E AT B A i AT 2
(TBERAFMERAERES] B
TERRERERER)  ARAMR
AR AR R R A R AR 2 AR

,T/\ °

FRARBERXAFAERABERES
ElMARTE BEREGTESHRHA=
EE - FH+ARBE_E——_F+
AMB)ATR :

Number of share options granted on 5 July 2002
RoBE-FtARBRHZERERE

Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At

Name or category 1 July during during during during 30 June

of participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 2009

RZBENE R-ZENE

2EEM AN +tA—H FhiH FRITE FEREH FRX¥ ~A=tH
Exercise price per share after R I3 & 15 2

share consolidation RATHE(E HK$0.280/8 7T HK$0.280/ 7T

Senior management SREEE 2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000

Other employees Hitfg 8 2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000

4,800,000 - - - - 4,800,000
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36 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

124

36 EERR#ERtEl@

(i) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (i) BRAHEREBIRESTE
Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole REAQNFE-—BRER_ZZT_F
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the tATEBANEAARARE £AQ
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme, AR BE R AREREZERES -
the principal terms of which are set out in the section HIEZEAFENEREZEN 42N
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the fRiEstZEl | —f - RZEZEWMFE— A
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company AN ARARIREBERAARERE
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 6 January BRI N -

2004.
The following share options with an exercise period from FRBBEEAAHEREEREST
6 January 2004 to 5 January 2014 were outstanding M ARTHEZEREGTFESH
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the —EEMF-AANBE-Z—WOF
year: —ARBE)IT
Number of share options granted on 6 January 2004
R=BEME—-AABREZBRERE
Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At
Name or category of 1 July during during during during 30 June
participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 2009
RBENE RBERE
S AR ER +tA—H FRRH FhTH FRE S Y I
Exercise price per share after PR A& H 16 2
share consolidation BRITFEE HK$0.22078 7T HK$0.2207% 7T
Other employees HiEE 10,500 - - — - 10,500
10,500 - - - - 10,500
(iii) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (iii) BRAMERERBRETE

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 20
September 2005.
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36 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

The following share options with an exercise period from
20 September 2005 to 19 September 2015 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

wlh) % .

36 MEixMEstEl@
(i) HEXRAHEREBRETSI@®
FRR B E R D5 S IR 1A B R st
BN ARTEZEREGTESRE -
EERFANA-THE-Z—RF
AA+AB T :

Number of share options granted on 20 September 2005

R-SRRENA-TEREZERESE

Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At
Name or category of 1 July during during during during 30 June
participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 2009
R-BEAE R=TTAE
2EEM AN tA—H FEhRH FERITE FREH FRXY FA=tH
Exercise price per share BATERE HK$0. 1143 7T HK$0.114i8 7T
Other employees HilEE 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (ivy ERAMEREERES

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 23 August
2007.

REARAE-RRR_ZT_F
tHAARBBZEARER AR
AIRABERAFEBIRBARETS
HIZHRAENERERWMETE
S -8 - R _FETLFNA
“t=H ARBARBEERAFE
P 12 18 AR R 819X h P B o
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36 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 36 EERR#ERtEl@

(ivy BRAMEREBKREE @
FRBBERDFEEREBREST
Bl RATEE 2 AR (T B —
EZEE+ANAZF=HE-_ZE—+

(iv) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)
The following share options with an exercise period from
23 August 2007 to 22 August 2017 were outstanding
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the

year: FNANAZFTZB)T:
Number of share options granted on 23 August 2007
RoBFtENAZT=BRHZBERESE
Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At
Name or category of 1 July during during during during 30 June
participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 2009
RZBENE RZBZBNE
SmEM AN tA—H FERRH FERITE FREH FR%% ~A=TH
Exercise price per share BATERE HK$0.630/% 7T HK$0.630/E 7T
Executive directors: HIE%E:

Ms. Wong Yuen Yee EfR AL 7,930,000 - - - - 7,930,000
Mr. Wong Kwok Sing HEEBLE 7,930,000 - - - - 7,930,000
Mr. Wong Yao Wing, Robert ~ E#4£ 7,930,000 - - - - 7,930,000
Mr. Lam Shiu San MR 58 & 7,930,000 - - - - 7,930,000
31,720,000 - - - - 31,720,000

Non-executive directors: FHTESF
Mr. Wong Tak Leung, Charles T1Z2R 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
Mr. Lai Ying Sum RER 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
Mr. Cheung King Hung H55 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
Senior management SRER 22,190,000 - - - — 22,190,000
Other employees HiEE 12,870,000 - - - — 12,870,000
69,780,000 - - - — 69,780,000
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36 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(v) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

wlh) % .

36 MEixMEstEl@

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 9

September 2008.

The following share options with an exercise period from
9 September 2008 to 8 September 2018 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

during the year:

(v)

BRXAMEREBIRE S
BREARFE-BRRR_-_ZFT_F
tALHABBZERMREZR A2
AR E R AR ERZBRESS -
HIZ2HRAENERERMETE
PRt &l — &1 - ARARNZ=ZFFEN
FAANBRBEERAREREE
P HE AT &3 R A

FARBEERARSRIZBRET
ERARTEZBEREATESHA =
ZZNFAAALBE-_ZE-N\FAN
ANBR)AE

Number of share options granted on 9 September 2008

R=FTN\ERAN BRI ZMERENE

Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At

Name or category of 1 July during during during during 30 June
participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 2009
RZBENE R-FFNE

SEEXZTER tA—H EREH ERTE FREH FRKH  RA=TH
Exercise price per share RITEE HK$0.1747 7T HK$0.174/8 7T
Senior management SEEE — 20,363,746  (10,000,000) - - 10,368,746
Other employees HpES —  68301,238  (47,815,619) - - 20,485,619
— 88,664,984  (67,815,619) - - 30,849,365
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36 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

128

(vi)

(vii)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 11
September 2008.

The following share options with an exercise period from
11 September 2008 to 10 September 2018 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

36 EEREHEsEl@)

(vi) BRAMEREBRESS
BEARIE—RER_ZTEZ_F
tATEBAZEAARZE &R
A AR RN E XA ERRE B
AR HETZBRAERNERER
Bfgg O s R EET 8l — &7 o N A
RZEZENFNLA+T—BREBX
NAE RS ERERT B T B -

FERNRIBERDR SR E R
BlMATFEZBREGTFESRH =
ZZ\FAAT-BE-Z—)N\F
hA+BE)IT

Number of share options granted on 11 September 2008

RZSBN\ERA+—BREZWEERE

Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed

Name or category of 1 July during during during during At
participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2009
RZBENE R-FENE

SEEWZSER tA-H Rl ERTRE R FRKH  RA=TH
Exercise price per share RITEE HK$0.195/8 7T HK$0.195/8 7T
Other employees HitES — 34,000,000  (12,000,000) - - 22,000,000
— 34,000,000  (12,000,000) - — 22,000,000

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 24
November 2008.
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36 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

The following share options with an exercise period from
24 November 2008 to 23 November 2018 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:

wlh) % .

36 MEixMEstEl@

BRAMERERBRETE @
FARBERNAFEEREERAES
BlMARTEZBREREGTESHHB =
EENF+—-—A-_F+HBEE_-Z
—NFE+—A=-+=A)T :

(vii)

Number of share options granted on 24 November 2008

RZBBNE+—A-THRREZERENE

Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At

Name or category of 1 July during during during 30 June
participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 2009
R-FENE RZBERE

2EEM AN +tA—H Fhi FERTE FEREH FMEX¥  ~A=TH
Exercise price per share ERTEE HK$0.070/7T HK$0.070/8 7T
Other employees HifE — 41,700,000  (27,800,000) - — 13,900,000
— 41,700,000  (27,800,000) - - 13,900,000

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 16

(viii) BRIk 1EBIRAERT S
REARAE-RRR_ZT_F
tHAARBBZEARER AR
ABEBRERAERAREREZBKR
BEE HTERFENERER
Bfs% O fE A AT &) — &6 - A1 A
RZZEZENF+ZA+"BRESR
NG E BRI R T I B R -

December 2008.

The following share options with an exercise period from
16 December 2008 to 15 December 2018 were
outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

during the year:

FARBERAFERZERES
BHARITEZBREGTERSE =
ZEENF+A+RAE=FT-N
FTZATHEBWT:

Number of share options granted on 16 December 2008

REZZFNETZA+AERHZRRESE

Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed
Name or category of 1 July during during during during At
participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2009
R-FENE REBERE
2EENZHER tA-H EREH FRTE EREH EREY ~A=1H
Exercise price per share BRTHEE HK$0.0762/8 7T HK$0.0762/8 7T
Senior management SREERE — 4,750,000 - — - 4,750,000
Other employees HiE 8 — 56,250,000  (35,000,000) - - 21,250,000
— 61,000,000 (35,000,000) - - 26,000,000
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36 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
(ix) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

130

(x)

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 17
February 2009.

The following share options with an exercise period from
17 February 2009 to 16 February 2019 were outstanding
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the
year:

36 EERR#ERtEl@

(ix)

BRAMERERRESTE

REAQNFE-—BRER_ZZT_F
+tARHBRZEEREZR  AQ
BB G E IR ARSI R
EEE HFZRAENERER
Mgy [BE R M5t 8 ) — & - AR A
R-ZETZAF_A+EtBREERX
ARERE BT SR LB -

FRABRBEERNAHESKREBERES
M ARITEZEREGTESRE =
TEENF_A+LtBE-ZT—hF
“A+tBE)mT

Number of share options granted on 17 February 2009

RZBFAFZA+TERHZBRERE

Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At

Name or category of 1 July during during during during 30 June
participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 2009
REZFTNE RoBERE

SHERZNER tA-H R ERTHE R FRXYE A~A=tH
Exercise price per share RITHEE HK$0.0997 T HK$0.0997 7T
Other employees Hig8 — 12,000,000 - - - 12,000,000
— 12,000,000 - - - 12,000,000

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by the sole
shareholder of the Company on 5 July 2002, the
Company adopted the Post-IPO share option scheme,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Schemes” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus. Options were granted by the Company
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 29 May
2009.
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36 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 36 MER#EElw@

(x) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued) (x) BRAMERERBKRES S @
The following share options with an exercise period from FRNRBEEIAAHERZERESS
29 May 2009 to 28 May 2019 were outstanding under SHARTEZEBREGTE S H
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year: —EEANFREA-tTABE-Z

—NEFEREA-ZTNAB)WMT:

Number of share options granted on 29 May 2009
REFFAELA =T BRH 2B E

Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At
Name or category of 1 July during during during during 30 June
participant 2008 the year the year the year the year 2009
RZBENE R-FFNE
SEERATER tA-H FRiH ERITE EMEH FRKR  ~A=tH
Exercise price per share RITEHE HK$0.088/5 7T HK$0.088/8 7T
Other employees HEig8 — 12,000,000 - - — 12,000,000
— 12,000,000 - - - 12,000,000
The fair values of the options granted on 20 September 2005, RZEZERFNAZTAH ZZEZELFEN

23 August 2007, 9 September 2008, 11 September 2008, 24 AZ+=B ZEZN\FNLANA - =Z
November 2008, 16 December 2008, 17 February 2009 and ZNFNAT+—HB ZZEZENFE+—A
29 May 2009 determined using the Binomial Option Pricing —tmBE-ZZEENE+Z )EI + ~H-
Model were HK$2,459,600, HK$32,590,077, HK$13,654,408, TENF-_A+EBRZ-ZZETNFHR H
HK$5,868,400, HK$2,597,910, HK$4,093,100, HK$1,071,600 “tHNABEREREEREZ ATFES IR
and HK$948,000 respectively. The significant inputs and EA R E B R A EE A2,459,60078 7T
assumptions to the model were as follows: 32,590,077/ 7T * 13,654,408/ 7T + 5,868,400
7 JT 2,597,910/ 7T - 4,093,100 T
1,071,600/ 7T % 948,000/ 7T - ZE R 2 &
EHAHBERBEROAT

20 September 23 August 9 September 11 September 24 November 16 December 17 February 29 May

Grant date 2005 2007 2008 2008 2008 2008 2009 2009
—BTEE CZTTtE CFTINE CBEAE “BTAE CBEIAF CZTBAE CZFTAE

TEH AA=+H NR=+ZH AARE AAR+-B t—A=+WAB +=-A+#xH Z=A+tH ZA=+AA

Stock assets price BOBEBBET  HKSOI10BT  HKSO.6357T HK$OI74BT HKS0A95%T  HKS0.O7ET HKSO.O75ET HKS0.099HT HKS0.087%7T

Exercise price AE HKS0. 45T HKSO.G3AT HKSO745TT HKSO.195%T  HKSO.OTATE HKSO.076257T HKS0.009%T HK$0.08857T
Expected volatility EHRE 107% 77.37% 95.077% 95.255% 98.732% 100.409% 102.361% 102.323%
Expected life BEFHE 5 years® 10 years 10 years® 10 years 10 years 10 years 10 years& 10 years
Risk free interest rate %EREX 4.012% 4.480 % 2.848% 2.799% 1.467% 1.530% 1.586% 2.767%
Expected dividend yield EHREKE 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Expected volatility was based on weekly historical volatility FEHEREIIBRIBEARG KUK ZZA

since the establishment of the Company.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model requires the input of highly
subjective assumptions, including the volatility of share price.
Any changes in subjective input assumptions could materially
affect the fair value estimate.

FESLRRERE

—EAEREEEEAERBASEE
&RTE““%(TJ% BEREKE 8B AR
R FMEBHAEHATEBFEELES
j(”/éa:"
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37 RESERVES

(a)

132

BE_TTANFRA=ZTHLEFE

37 (k&

The Group (a) &A%
Retained
Employee Convertible Capital Investment profit/
Share compensation notes d pti Exct revaluation (Accumulated
premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
BE1 BRAEE REER  RIRH/
RHEE EEHERE FBERE 081 HE  ERRE #E (RiABEHR) @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FEXT TERT
At 1 April 2007 RZZTLFWMA—A 37,273 1,462 160 5,625 43 (349 - 11,020 55549
Loss for the period KHEEE - - - - - - - (71,352)  (71,352)
Issuance of shares BT 266,423 — - — - - - — 266,423
Fair value of options granted RLERELTE - 34,251 - - - - - — 34251
Exercise of share options TERERE 49,758 (12,493) — - — - - - 37,265
Shares issuance costs R #TER (15,614) - - - - - - — (15614
Exercise of convertible notes, TRARRELRE
net of transaction cost ENBRRSHE 5,026 - (160) - - - - - 4,866
Exchange difference on HAKEZ
consolidation ERZEE - - — - — 211 - - (211)
At 30 June 2008 RZZEZENFAA=TH 342,866 23,220 - 5,625 43 (245) - (60,332) 311,177
Loss for the year KAEEER — — — — — - - (391,000) (391,000)
Issuance of shares #kh 49,957 - - - - - - — 49,957
Fair value of options granted BHBEREZ NTFE - 28,233 - - - - - — 28233
Equity component of convertible %17 A #: i Z % i 42
notes issued B5 - - 15,448 - - - - - 15448
Exercise of share options TERERE 29,416 (15,055) - — - - - — 14,361
Shares issuance costs RHETER (1,881) - - - - - - - (1881)
Exercise of convertible notes, TETRREAREE
net of transaction cost EHBRZSEA 21,202 - (6,817) - - - - — 14405
Fair value changes of avallable-for- 7] it i &% & A T &
sale investment %% - - - - - - (640) - (640)
Release of exchange reserve upon it & Sh Bt B 22 7B
disposal of foreign subsidiaries BEEREE - - - - - 72 - - 72
Exchange difference on BARECERZR
consolidation - - - - - (32) - - (32)
At 30 June 2009 RZZTNEFAA=1H 441,580 36,398 8,631 5,625 43 (205) (640) (451,332) 40,100

The share issuance costs were written off against the
share premium account.

Included in the Group’s accumulated losses is an
accumulated losses of HK$1,869,000 (2008:
HK$2,270,000), attributable to associates and jointly
controlled entity.

The application of the share premium account and capital
redemption reserve is governed by Bye-Law 140(A) of
the Company’s Bye-Law and the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (“Companies Act”).

Pursuant to the Re-organisation as set out in the
prospectus, the Company became the holding company
of the Group on 5 July 2002. The excess of the
consolidated net assets represented by the shares
acquired over the nominal value of the shares issued by
the Company in exchange under the Re-organisation
was transferred to contribute surplus. Contributed
surplus is available for distribution to shareholders subject
to the provision of section 54 of the Companies Act.
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37 RESERVES (continued) 37 fﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁ)

(b) The Company (b) EwAT
Convertible Capital
Share Share option notes Contributed redemption (Accumulated
premium reserve reserve surplus reserve losses) Total
TRRER BAEE

BRiYiE BRERE 1 I ON-1 ] fE  (RHBR) @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FTET FER THET FTET FER THET

Balance at 1 April 2007 REZZZ+FMA—-ARH 37,273 1,462 160 5,625 43 (14,431) 30,132

Loss for the period KEHFE - - - - - (48,222) (48,222)

Issuance of shares BITRD 266,423 - - — - - 266,423

Fair value of options granted 1% i fE AR E A & - 34,251 - - - - 34,251

Exercise of share options TR E 49,758 (12,493) - - - - 37,265

Share issuance costs BROEITE % (15,614) - - — - - (15,614)
Exercise of convertible notes, 1T TR ER - EHBRR S

net of transaction cost A 5,026 - (160) - - - 4,866

Balance at 30 June 2008 RZZZ\FAA=1H 342,866 23,220 - 5,625 43 (62,653) 309,101

Loss for the year KEEEE - - - — - (413,219) (413,219)

Issuance of shares BIIRG 49,957 - - - - - 49,957

Fair value of options granted & iR EZ A FE — 28,233 — — — — 28,233

Equity component of EGREES e

convertible notes issued B - - 15,448 - - - 15,448

Exercise of share options ek 29,416 (15,055) - - - - 14,361

Share issuance costs BB ITER (1,881) - - - - - (1,881)
Exercise of convertible notes, {T{EAIRRTEAIZHE - THK

net of transaction costs TSR 21,222 - 6,817) — - — 14,405

Balance at 30 June 2009  R-ZBAEXASTAKH 441580 36,398 8,631 5,625 43 (475,872) 16,405

At 30 June 2009, no aggregate amount of reserves was
available for distribution to shareholders of the Company
(2008: HK$Nil).

Pursuant to the Re-organisation as set out in the
prospectus, the Company became the holding company
of the Group on 5 July 2002. The excess of the
consolidated net assets represented by the shares
acquired over the nominal value of the shares issued by
the Company in exchange under the Re-organisation
was transferred to contributed surplus. Contributed
surplus is available for distribution to shareholders subject
to the provision of section 54 of the Companies Act.
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38 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 38 WiEkHIBAT
2009 —BEAE
The Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of R £ E A 42 K {B20,906,0007 JT (£ #& =
Dragon Emperor International Limited for a total consideration % B F536,0007% JT) U B Dragon Emperor
of HK$20,906,000 (including professional fee of HK$536,000). International Limited 2, 8 17 & 78 2 100% °
The amount of goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition 1 B P EE AR P 2 ¥E R4,322,00008 7T ©

was HK$4,322,000.

The net assets acquired in the transaction and the goodwill REEMUBzABEFRELMMELERESE
arising are as follows: W
HK$’000
TER
Fair values of net assets acquired: FIEEESETHEZAFHE:
Available-for-sale investment A ENEE 16,600
Other payable H b e R (16)
16,584
Goodwill arising from the acquisition MWEMEEAZHE 4,322
Total consideration BRAE 20,906
Total consideration satisfied by: BREUTHSES:
Issue of convertible notes BT R R R 13,816
Promissory note AN EE 6,554
Direct expenses incurred for the acquisition UWEEFESX M EERX 536
20,906
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WERMELARSTH F5E
Cash paid for the direct expenses BEERIZEMNES 536
Dragon Emperor International Limited contributed HK$16,000 R HE B = 4 & B 8 Dragon Emperor
to Group's profit for the period between the date of acquisition International Limited [A] 2= £5 & 1 £:16,000/%
and the balance sheet date. Toom A B B e
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38 ACQU'S'T'ON OF SUBS'D'AR'ES (continued) 38 l&ﬁﬁﬁ‘l E’A E.' (48)
2008 —BBNE
The Group acquired 56% of the issued share capital of 7N 5 B 1 48 1K (860,484,000 T (B IEH ¥
Autoscale Resources Limited for a total consideration of £ 1,516,000/ 7T ) U B Autoscale Resources
HK$60,484,000 (including professional fee of HK$1,516,000). Limited 2 2 1T AN 2 56% © W ig PTE A &
The amount of goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition % ¥4 560,643,000/ 7T °

was HK$60,643,000.

The net liabilities acquired in the transaction and the goodwill THEBRWEEEFENMIEAREN
arising are as follows: K
HK$’000
Fi#ET
Net (liabilities) acquired: FRhE (B 18) 38 -
Amount due to director EEEKIE (59
Accruals EEt &R (100)
(159)
Goodwill arising from the acquisition NWBEE BB 60,643
Total consideration BRE 60,484
Total consideration satisfied by: LRENTINZEEI
Cash consideration for professional fee MEEXEERCDNIRSE 1,516
Shares allotted TR AR (0 58,968
60,484
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WHEFTE AR &K L ¥
Cash consideration HeERE 1,516
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39 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39 WEEKBAS
The Group has disposed certain subsidiaries during the year, REBREERNAHLEETHB AT
the net assets of those subsidiaries at their dates of disposal EfEARRNEEERNEEFENT :

were as follow:

2009
—E¥AE
HK$°000
FET
Net assets disposed of: HEZEE:
Property, plant and equipment e S 6,857
Prepaid lease payments T HEERIE 33,439
Accounts receivable JiE W BR 5K 170
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables & < Z 1B ~ 24 K H th jE W 5718 14,911
Amounts due (to) subsidiary company FE(RD B AT (217)
Amounts due from fellow subsidiary FEWE XK E R A
company 43
Amounts due (to) associated companies FE () B & A | (286)
Amounts due (to) directors FE (R EEHIA 1)
Inventories FE 286
Cash and bank balance TRe RIRITE R 283
Bank loans IBITER (21,667)
Trade payables, accrued expenses and BoEMNDE - EtE I REM
other payables &~ 3RB (2,509)
Provision for taxation T 18 B 1% (17)
31,286
Attributable goodwil FE1h 2 60,643
Release of translation reserve EHBEFEE 72
92,001
Loss on disposal & B 18 (84,375)
Total consideration BRE 7,626
Satisfied by: ATH&BESL A
Other receivables H b fE U FRE 225
Promissory note Z N2 4,256
Cash N4 3,145
7,626
Net cash inflow arising on disposal RHELEEZRESRAFRE
Cash consideration ReRE 3,145
Cash and cash equivalents e kBESEEY (283)
2,862
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40

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40 BEXEEER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the AEBEREEAR HRAREBZTEIR
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while BEALEEEEE VWEBREBLEBR
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation ARG AEREAE ALK HZE KB I -
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy NEB 7y BEER A EFARESTE -
remains unchanged from prior year.
The Group manages the capital structure and makes AEBEBREALEE THEBERRZ
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions YL EHEEZCRBIESELAE-
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to BHEBNABREALE AEBeH
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust BERRERNEEZSE MRERME
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to PRAS - BEITEHR G  E5FERKZIBESR
shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt financing, or HEBEURKERSE N_ZEZTIhER
sell assets to reduce debt. No changes were made in the —ZEINEFEE/YHM BERERY
objective and processes during the year/period of 2009 and AT H -
2008.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio. The Group’s AEBEREEEBLEREREAR K
policy is to keep the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. The EBIHEAEHEEEABLERAEE
Group’s gearing ratios at 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008 KFE-AEBR-_ZFEZAFNA=+H
were as follows: M—EENENA=ZTHZEBEARRELL
MR
The Group and the Company
EREREAT
2009 2008
—BTAE _—TENF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
TER FAT
Debt (Note i) &% (M ati) 40,765 14,837
Cash and cash equivalents and ReELB2EEBYMUR
pledged deposits BEFER (10,735) (50,305)
Net debt E%F R 30,030 (35,468)
Equity (Note i) P (B atii) 82,984 335,721
Net debt to equity ratio B FREE AR A LR 36.2% N/A

U

(i)

Debt comprises total bank borrowings, promissory note and (i)

convertible notes.

Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

BEREERTEEESE ANEBREA
BRI -

(i) BESEAEEMRMARKRLES -
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138

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk, foreign
currency risk and cash flow interest rates risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance
and are set out below.

(a)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on
variable-rate bank borrowings. Management monitors
the related cash flow interest rate risk exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant cash flow interest
rate risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the balance sheet date. For variable-rate
borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the balance sheet date
was outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management's assessment of the possible
change in interest rate.

At 30 June 2009, if interest rates had been 100 basis
points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s loss after tax would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$18,000 (2008:
HK$14,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its bank balances and bank
loans.

The analysis is prepared on the same basis for 2008.

Liquidity risk

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and going concern of
the Group in the light of the Group’s loss of
approximately HK$391,000,000 for the year ended 30
June 2009 and its current liabilities exceeded its current
assets of approximately HK$11,298,000 at 30 June
2009. The directors of the Company are satisfied that the
Group has so far meet all the financial obligations as and
when they fall due and will consider to raise fund by ways
of issuing debt and equity instruments of the Group or to
obtain adequate committed lines of funding from financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in future.
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(b)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41 T Hm@
Liquidity risk (continued) (b) FREELZERE@®
The following table details the remaining contractual TRANAEEBRARAFITES
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and MEEREERAZMGENHE
the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which TIBREALNRMRRESRE (B
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows HAAYOMERHE BN 5
(including interest payments computed using contractual MEEHMNE - AIRBEEARZR
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the balance ZHER) UARKERBREAATHE
sheet date) and the earliest date the Group and the Sk =5 HE:
Company can be required to pay:
The Group
ES 1
2009 2008
=S ZIN\E
Total Morethan  More than Total Morethan  More than
contractual Within  1yearbut 2years but contractual Within -~ 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted  1yearor lessthan lessthan Morethan Carying undiscounted 1 year oron less than lessthan ~ More than
Amount cash flow on demand 2 years 5years 5years  Amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
BENKY —-FREE @8-F BERE BAMAY —FARE BBE-F HBERF
REE RHALRKE RERHEE EORWE BOREE BBLIE FEE BERERE RIKEE EIRME BIRRF HEBLEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TERL TERL TERL FET FHELT TEL FHL FHT TAL TERL FERL
Bank loans and
overdrafts 11,957 (11,957) (11,957) = = = 14,837 (14,848) (14,848) - - -
Trade payables, B HEME
accrued Gt ER
expenses and REAER
other payables | 10,304 (10,304) (10,304) - - - 20,904 (20,904) (20,904) - - -
Promissorynote A& E 1 6,702 (7,820) (7,820) - - - - - - - — _
Amountsdusto  FEREE R
directors 2,140 (2,140) (2,140) - - - 55,559 (55,559) (65,559) - - -
Convertiole notes ] 2t R 22,106 (29,508) (1,821) (27,681) - - - - - - - -
53,209 (61,729) (34,048) (27,681) - - 91,300 (91,311) (91,311) - - -
The Company
£48
2009 2008
ZBEnE 3 Y2
Total More than  More than Total Morethan ~ More than
contractual Within  1yearbut 2years but contractual Within -~ 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted  1yearor lessthan  lessthan Morethan Carrying undiscounted 1 yearoron less than lessthan  More than
Amount cash flow on demand 2years 5years 5years  Amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
AEHRYE -ERZE BE-5 REME BANAE —FARE BBE-F BEWME
REE BRLHAE REXHEE GORWE BOREE @BRF FEE RAESRE REREE ELREE ELRRE EBLE
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000  HK§000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TET FET FET TEL TEL FEL THERL FAL FEL FER TET TERL
Amountdustoa  FE( — M
subsidiary GEA 13,757 (13,757) (13,757) - - - 10,890 (10,890) (10,890) - - -
Amountsdueto PN EEHIE
directors 245 (245) (245) - - - 45 (45) (45) - - -
Accrued expenses  fEE B i
and other REMER
payables B 2,827 (2,827) (2,827) - - - 2,188 (2,188) (2,188) - - -
Promissorynote AN E 6,702 (7,820) (7,820) - - - - - - - - —
Convertile notes [ R Z 22,106 (29,508) (1,827)  (27,681) = - - - - - - -
45,637 (54,157) (26,476) (27,681) - - 13,123 (13,123) (13,123 - - -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity investments classified as available-for-sale
investment securities (see note 21) as at 30 June 2009.

Sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2009, if equity prices at that date had been
5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
other equity reserves would increase/decrease by
HK$945,000 as a result of the changes in fair value of
available-for-sale investments.

At 30 June 2008, if equity prices at that date had been
5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
net loss for the period would decrease/increase by
HK$51,000 as a result of the changes in fair value of
trading securities.

Credit risk

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of
products are made and services are provided to
customers with an appropriate credit history. Bank
deposits are limited to high-credit-quality financial
institutions. The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any financial institution.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivables
are set out in note 25.

Foreign currency risk

The Group does not have a significant foreign currency
risk exposure arising from its sales and purchases
transactions as these transactions are mainly carried out
in Hong Kong dollars. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
has been prepared.
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42 COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

Operating leases commitment

Inno-Tech Holdings Limited E &liE R & R 2

At 30 June 2009, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

42 KiE
(a) EEFHLRIE

wlh) % .

K-ZEAEAA=A TAK
WS ETRL Z BN B R RIS E

payable as follows: THAAZEW -
2009 2008
—EBEBAE —ZZTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET BT
Within 1 year —F R 785 3,392
After 1 year but within 5 years —FBRERFA - 7,787
After 5 years HE% — 8,711
785 19,890

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one
to two years, with an option to renew the lease when all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes

contingent rentals.

Capital commitments

Capital commitments outstanding at 30 June 2009 not
provided for in the financial statements of the Group were

AEBERELEHOBEZEYE -
HO—RNERH—EZMF > HLY
EwmRAEEEEELY YENS
EMBEGR ZEROALEBIENL

(b) BARIE

RZZETZNFAAA=Z+TBHHKREER
MARRANEEFBERERBEEZE

as follows: AAEPERT

2009 2008
—EBBAE —TT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT

Contracted but not provided for: BRI A8 R B HE ¢
Acquisition of a subsidiary N 75,000 -
Acquisition of a property Ue B8 W % = 30,217
Acquisition of software N = 1,211
Decoration of hotel properties B G ) 2 A - 39,416
Capital contribution of subsidiaries AEMB AR - 51,111
Investment in joint venture RELRAEE 18,333 18,333
93,333 140,288
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44

142

ZENFRA=ZTRHIEFE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company and a subsidiary of the Group are defendants in
a legal action involving the alleged default payment for one of
the installment payments to the plaintiff. The said subsidiary of
the Group had acquired certain intellectual property in 2004
with consideration payable by quarterly installments and the
Company is a guarantor.

The plaintiff is claiming for the amount of HK$2,550,000, being
the full remaining balances of the consideration payable to the
plaintiff in June 2006, together with interest thereon and cost.
The Group settled the disputed installment payment as well as
the subsequent installments which were due for repayment
from time to time. The remaining balance of the consideration
payable of HK$50,000 to the plaintiff as at 30 June 2009 had
already been included in the Group’s consolidated balance
sheet.

The directors of the Company, based on legal advice, consider

43

HAREE

ARRRAEE —HWEBERARRIERIE
REEER—HOBENRZFRFI A
WE - ZAEBNBATR ST WNF
BAETHNEBEE BEREABEZS
I MARBABERA -

B 4 R {8 4 582,550,000 7t » B —F
ERNFNARNREZ28RESRE
HRBBAMNBEEKNEA AEBHBBEBER
F v oHMSZENREA TR EES

ZOHRE-R-_ZETAFRA=1TH"
& R & 2 X {B 88 #850,000/8 7T 2 5 AR
SEGAEERER-

ARBEZRBZEIRERLRS BEFK

that the action will remain pending for a while but it can be NERDAESER HEARNEE  KF
successfully defended and therefore no further provision will be BIELE—FEE-
required.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4 FEFEXS
The following represents a summary of material transactions $ SERESMUABBEINE BA
during the year/period between the Group and related parties TZERRZHBENT :
identified by the directors:
2009 2008
“EBEBRE _—"ZENF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B &t TER TAT
Operating expenses paid ERNEERY (i) 636 1,361
Consultancy fee paid BEfEME (ii) 174 181
Loan interest income B3R B WA (ii) 369 440
Impairment loss recognised in "R T
respect of loans to a former B EE &N T
associate BER (iv) 12,440 —
Note: Bt it

0] The directors, Ms. Wong Yuen Yee, Mr. Wong Yao Wing,
Robert, Mr. Lam Shiu San and Mr. Wong Kwok Sing, and
related companies paid certain operating expenses on behalf of
the Group.
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44 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Note: (continued)

(i)

(i

(iv)

(vi)

Consultancy fee paid to Digital Bank Technology Limited, of
which Mr. Lam Shiu San is the common director, for the
provision of technical support.

Loan interest income from United Premier Medical Group, a
former associate of the Group.

Impairment was made for loans to United Premier Medical
Group, a former associate of the Group.

Purchases of Great China Media Holdings Limited, an associate
of the Group, from Capital Base Holding Limited, of which both
Ms. Wong Yuen Yee and Mr. Wong Kwok Sing are executive
directors and owners. The consideration involved amounting to
HK$43,384,000 which has been satisfied by issuance of
convertible note as detailed in note 34.

Directors of the Company have provided personal guarantee for
banking facilities to the extent of HK$12,000,000 (2008:
HK$15,000,000) granted to the Group and the Company.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the above
transactions with related parties were conducted on normal

44

mll% .

FREAX S (&)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(%)

BEEDRERARM S ERB XN T
BUBMEARQR(MRKLELELETR
FRFZER) -

ERMNBWATIRE G /A EEE 2R
Az REERER -

ERREDREGAAEEBZAFZ
REBERER -

BEASEBE AR APERERRE
R A 7] #yCapital Base Holding Limited &
BWITESFREBARENRZ X T REH
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commercial terms and in the ordinary course of business. T ©
Compensation of key management personnel TEEEBAEZHE
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FORREEREMTIEERASZH
management during the year/period was as follows: WM
Period from
Year ended 1 April 2007 to
30 June 2009 30 June 2008
BT F
BE_SThE MA—A=
~A=+H —EEN\F
IEEE ~NA=1H
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THER FAT
Basic salary, allowance and other benefits ~ E A& 4 - 3285 & H 438 7 6,638 13,412
Recognised retirement pension BEHERZERS 72 162
Share-based payments AR AER 2T H 1,033 16,820
7,743 30,394
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For the year ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=_—ZTZTNF A=+ HIEFE
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EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

(@ A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company has entered
into a sales and purchase agreement for acquisition of
equity interest of a Company at a consideration of HK$75
million. The completion date of the transaction has been
extended to on or before 31 October 2009.

(o) In July 2009, the Company entered into a placing
agreement in relation to a maximum of 1,000,000,000
placing shares in the capital of the Company at a
minimum placing price of HK$0.138 per placing share.
The fulfillment of the condition precedents of this placing
agreement has been extended to 30 October 2009.

(¢)  In July 2009, the Company had received notices from
grantees of convertible notes to convert the notes into
shares of the Company and as a result, 165,457,866
new shares were issued.

(d) In July 2009, the Company had received notices from
grantees of share options scheme to exercise his share
options and as a result, 2,000,000 new shares were
issued.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.
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